
 

 

 

Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Extension 01629 538328 
Direct Dial 01629 538328 
Ask for Ivan Walters 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Regulatory - Planning Committee 
 
 
 

Friday, 1 April 2022 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Regulatory - Planning Committee to be 
held at 1.00 pm on Monday, 11 April 2022 in The Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Matlock, DE4 3AG, the agenda for which is set out below. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  
 
A G E N D A 
 
PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
1.   Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive apologies for absence (if any) 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest (if any) 
 

3.   Declarations of Significant Lobbying  
 
To receive declarations of significant lobbying (if any) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
4.   Petitions  

 
To receive petitions (if any) 
 

5.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the Regulatory – 
Planning Committee held on 7 February 2022 
 

6.   To consider the reports of the Director of Legal & Democratic Services on 
Commons Act 2006 determination of an application to register land known 
as Twyford Road Playing Fields, Willington as a town or village green 
(VG118)  
 

To consider the non-exempt reports of the Executive Director - Place on: 
 
7.   Application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

for Permission Not to Comply with Condition 31 of Planning Permission 
Code Number CW8/0417/1, so as to allow the Storage of Material above 
the Nutbrook Culvert within the Permitted Site, Johnsons Recycling Centre, 
Crompton Road, Ilkeston, DE7 4BG Applicant: Johnsons Aggregates & 
Recycling Limited, Code No: CW8/0721/18  
 

8.   Current Enforcement Action  
 

9.   Outstanding Application List  
 

10.   Current Appeals/Called in Applications  
 

11.   Matters Determined by the Executive Director - Economy, Transport and 
Environment under Delegated Powers  
 

 



 

 

PUBLIC 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of REGULATORY - PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 
Monday, 7 February 2022 at The Council Chamber, County Hall, Matlock, DE4 3AG. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillor M Ford (in the Chair) 
 

Councillors R Ashton, A Griffiths, L Grooby, R Mihaly, D Murphy, R Parkinson, 
M Yates, P Niblock and D Wilson. 
 

 

9/22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 None. 
 

10/22 DECLARATIONS OF SIGNIFICANT LOBBYING 
 

 None. 
 

11/22 PETITIONS 
 

 None. 
 

12/22 MINUTES 
 

 In reference to Proposed Diversion of Public Footpath No 39 (Part) – 
Parish of Barlow (Minute 36/21 refers) the officer managing the Rights of 
Way Team in Place reported that it had looked into the issue of the 
inclusion in the proposed diversion of the steps. He was satisfied that 
steps were required to assist pedestrians over a change in levels on the 
route, between points A and C as depicted on the plan to the previous 
committee report. A ramp at this location designed to current standards 
would be impractical and an intrusion into the rural landscape. As there 
were already several limitations (step & wall stiles) on the existing 
footpath towards Barlow, steps at this location were acceptable 
 
RESOLVED To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the 
Regulatory - Planning Committee held on 10 January 2022. 
 

13/22 THE INSTALLATION OF AN ANAEROBIC DIGESTION (AD) PLANT 
AND ASSOCIATED BUILDINGS, PLANT AND MACHINERY 
(RETROSPECTIVE) AT STANTON RECYCLING, THE OLD 
IRONWORKS, CROMPTON ROAD, ILKESTON, DE7 4BG, 
APPLICANT: STANTON ENERGY LTD CODE NO: CW8/0721/16 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 An application had been received from Stanton Energy Ltd which sought 

planning permission for the installation of an anaerobic digestion (AD) 
plant and permission for the associated buildings, plant and machinery at 
the existing Stanton Recycling waste management facility in Ilkeston. A 
report on the application by the Executive Director for Place had been 
published with the agenda, which included details of the consultation 
process, publicity, objections, observations, comments received, and 
commentary on the planning considerations.   
 
The report explained that the application sought permission to increase 
the site area by a marginal 0.027ha and an amended site layout. The 
application did not seek to increase throughput or number of vehicle 
movements over those already authorised by permission for the existing 
Stanton Recycling facility or exceed its permitted hours of operation. The 
development described in the application had been commenced after the 
date of its submission and the construction operations were considered to 
be substantially completed. The Executive Director was satisfied that the 
development would assist in moving waste up the waste hierarchy, divert 
waste from landfill, and would provide useful by-products of bio-gas and 
the solid fraction of the digestate, to be used as a soil conditioner on local 
farms. The principle of the development had been established through the 
grant of planning permission for a similar AD facility under application 
code no. CW8/0819/41.Potential impacts of the development proposed 
included noise, odour and dust, flood risk, design, ecology, traffic and 
heritage, and cumulative impacts. The Executive Director considered that 
these were acceptable, or could be mitigated satisfactorily, and that the 
development was in accordance with national and local planning policy.  It 
was  recommended therefore that the Committee authorised a grant of 
permission subject to a set of conditions. 
 
Prior to the Committee discussion of the application the Development 
Management Team Leader provided an oral summary of the main 
aspects of the development, including a presentation of slides showing 
plans and views of the site.    
 
Members in discussion referred to and asked questions on some potential 
impacts of the development that were mentioned in the report.  which 
were duly responded to by the Team Leader.  The discussion did not 
raise any relevant planning considerations that were not addressed by the 
report.  
   
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to conditions 
substantially similar to the draft conditions contained in the Executive 
Director’s report. 
 

Page 2



 

 

14/22 CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
 

 RESOLVED to receive the report on current enforcement action. 
 

15/22 OUTSTANDING APPLICATION LIST 
 

 RESOLVED to receive the list on decisions outstanding on 27 January 
2022 relating to EIA applications outstanding for more than sixteen 
weeks, major applications outstanding for more than thirteen weeks and 
minor applications outstanding for more than eight weeks. 
 

16/22 CURRENT APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 

 RESOLVED to note that the following appeal has been lodged with the 
Planning Inspectorate:  
 
Appeal Reference APP/U1050/C/20/3257919  
Land at Lady Lea Road, Horsley, Ilkeston  
Appeal against Enforcement Notice Issues on 16 July 2020  
Appeal Start Date – 8 September 2020. 
 
 

17/22 MATTERS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - 
ECONOMY, TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS 
 

 RESOLVED to note the applications that had been approved by the 
Executive Director – Place under delegated powers as detailed in the 
report. 
 

The meeting finished at 11.00 am 
 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
FOR PUBLICATION 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY - PLANNING COMMITTEE 

11 April 2022 

Report of the Director of Legal Services 

Commons Act 2006 

Report on determination of an application to register land known as 
Twyford Road Playing Fields, Willington as a town or village green 

(VG118) 

1. Purpose

1.1 To ask the Committee to determine an application made pursuant to
section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”) to register land
known as Twyford Road Playing Fields, Willington (“the Application
Land”) as a town or village green.

2. Information and Analysis

2.1 Application VG118 was acknowledged as validly made on 2 July 2010
and notice of the application advertised on 22 July 2010 with a closing
date for representations of 3 September 2010.  At that time the
application was considered to fall within priority 5 of the scheme of
prioritisation. The application was raised to priority 2 following notification
from the Parish Council that a planning application had been submitted.
On 7 January 2021 planning permission was granted for an extension
and alterations to Willington Sports Pavilion situated on the application
land.  The Clerk to the Parish Council has recently contacted the Council
to ask that this be given consideration.

2.2 The planning permission, as granted, must be commenced within three
years of the date of permission.  The Parish Council is keen to commence
works but are reticent to implement that permission until the TVG

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



2 

 

application has been determined.  It is therefore considered that the TVG 
application is re-prioritised as priority 1.  A plan showing the land subject 
to the town or village green application is at Appendix 2. 

 
2.3 The application for town or village green status was made jointly by Mr J 

Stevens, Mr G E Mellor, Mr J B Meynell and Mr S J Tidmarsh, all residents 
of Willington.   

 
2.4 The application was advertised as required by regulations made under 

the Commons Act 2006 and objections were received from the Parish 
Council, as owner of the land, and also from local residents.   The 
applicant was given an opportunity to respond to those objections. 

 
2.5 In order to be registrable as a town or village green, land must meet the 

relevant statutory definition, in this case found in section 15(2) of the 2006 
Act.   

 
2.6 Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 states: 
 
 “15 (1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to 

register land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a 
case where subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

 
 (2) This subsection applies where- 
 (a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality have indulged as of right (my emphasis) 
in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 
  
and  
(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.” 

 
2.7      Having considered the case put forward by the applicant and the objection 

of the Parish Council, the first question to be considered is whether the 
land has been used as of right during the relevant period by a significant 
number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within 
a locality. As of right means without force, without secrecy and without 
permission. The relevant period means a 20-year period of use without 
interruption, challenge or permission. Where the use of the land has not 
been challenged or brought into question prior to the date of an 
application, the relevant period is considered to be the 20 years up to the 
date of the application. For VG118 the date of the Application is 
considered as the date that use of the land has been brought into 
question and the relevant period is from 1990 to 2010. The Applicants 
have defined the locality as the Parish of Willington. The second question 
is whether there is a statutory incompatibility between the registration of 

Page 6



3 

 

the land as a TVG and the purpose for which the Parish Council acquired 
the land. 

 
User Evidence  
 
2.8     In support of the application, the applicants submitted 138 user evidence 

forms which had been completed by residents of Willington.  None of 
the user evidence submitted with the application refers to any challenges 
to use at any time and nor do they refer to any obstructions or notices 
preventing their use of the land or permission being granted for their use. 
The 20-year period of use under consideration for the purposes of this 
report is therefore that period up to the date of the application; 1990 to 
2010 (the Claim Period). 

 
2.9 Of the user evidence forms submitted, the majority describe at least some 

of their use for organised events or sports. The listed organised sports 
and events as follows were all undertaken with the express permission of 
the Parish Council and the Application Land, or part thereof, was hired 
out to the organisers or clubs for their exclusive use:  

 

• Playing Football – 66 users 

• Watching Football – 41 users 

• Chapel Summer School – 2 users 

• Scouts/Cubs - 12 users 

• Sports/Fun Days – 20 users 

• Carnivals – 41 users 

• Fireworks – 33 users 

 
2.10 Only twenty of the 138 users have described their use as not including 

organised sports or events. Of those users, 11 described using the land 
for dog walking which is restricted under byelaws to keeping dogs on 
leads and to allow no fouling and two of those users have not described 
any use of the application land.                

 
2.11 Of the 138 residents who have completed user evidence forms only 

seven have described all their use in such a way that it can be considered 
‘as of right’ for lawful sports and pastimes. The uses include the following: 
‘leisure’; with their children or grandchildren; walking, playing/socialising, 
blackberry picking; other sports / games / pastimes.  

 
2.12 The individual residents use of the Application Land varies in longevity 

from 73 years to 1 year with two users failing to record the years of their 
use, although one states, ‘too far back to remember’.   All the residents 

Page 7



4 

 

who recorded their years of use claim use during the Claim Period. The 
periods of claimed use is shown below: 

 

• 50 – 73     = 7 users 

• 40 – 49     = 20 users 

• 30 – 39     = 18 users 

• 20 – 29     = 37 users 

• 10 – 19     = 48 users 

• 1 – 9         = 6 users 

 
2.13 Of the 136 residents who have recorded their years of use, 82 claim to 

have used the Application Land for a 20 year period or more and 54 for 
less than 20 years. The user evidence covers the years from 1937 to 
2010 with the longest user claiming use for 73 years. 

 
Objections to the Application 
 
2.14 The Council received 17 submissions in objection to the application; one 

from the Parish Council and the other 16 from local residents. 
 
2.15 The reasons for objecting raised by local residents include the following, 

which are not considered as relevant objections as they do not question 
the use of the land by the public: 

 

• The Application Land houses the recycling banks 

• The importance of the provision of a GP Surgery which was intended to 

be built on the land (X4) 

• Construction of the surgery would improve the area, yet still afford 

provision for sport – which would surely be prohibited on a village green 

• The Application has been made as a way to delay or prevent the building 

of the GP Surgery (x3) 

• In over 20 years as a Willington resident have never heard it referred to 

as a village green 

• There are alternatives in Willington; small park with swings / 'green' / child 

friendly designated areas (X6) 

• Development supports the preservation of space for competitive sport 

and the provision for better healthcare 

• TVG status would prevent any changes being made including the surgery 

development 

• Would deprive the Parish Council (owners) the flexibility of deciding future 

use. 

Page 8



5 

 

• A number of the listed pastimes are no longer accurate; the Scouts have 

their own premises and only use it for fireworks; the primary school now 

has its own field. 

• Overwhelming majority of Willington residents have voted in favour of of 

selling/leasing the land for a Surgery. The area left is big enough for the 

football pitch and changing facilities to remain. Still room for dog walking.  

• Not seen any other activities in 10 years of living in the village.  

• Application is not for children but for the football users 

• Comments on the declared uses: Football; Saturday /Sunday and in the 

week. Scout Group; very occasional and on bonfire night. Carnival; no 

longer there and not for at least 12 years. After-school group; never seen 

on the playing field. South Derbyshire District Council event; once a year 

for one week. Baptist Church; occasional. Junior School; Never seen on 

the field as they have their own green space adjacent to the school. 

Cricket Club; did not know it existed. 

• Field bought by Parish Council for the benefit of all the people of 

Willington, there used to be fetes, fairs, carnivals, sports of all kinds but 

things have changed dramatically over the years: children no longer able 

to use the field during the football season when teams practice under 

supervision - they now play at the NPower field. 

• The Football Club have manipulated this field for their purposes alone 

and the reason for the application is the Football Club do not want to lose 

'their' field to the surgery. 

• The applicants have given no thought to the 300 residents of Willington.  

  

2.16 The residents objecting to the Application also raised various points 
relating to the use of the Application Land, including the following: 

 

• It does not have the distinctive characteristic of being entirely open as it 

is completely fenced or hedged. 

• It is little used apart from organised football and dog owners exercising 

dogs, some not responsibly which makes it a hazardous playground. 

• Apart from football matches the field is not regularly used other than by 

people exercising dogs 

• The land is little used other than by dog walkers. 

• Fields now used by dog owners and their dogs and a very small number 

for sport 

• Lived in the village for 39 years, raised 2 children in the village and only 

ever used the field to walk dogs. 

• Land has not been in continuous use for lawful sports and pastimes. In 

20 years to 2010 the only activity witnessed on the Application Land is 

Page 9



6 

 

people exercising their dogs and (they) have never before witnessed 

more than two cars parked at the ground. 

• The land is not in continuous use by a significant number of the 

inhabitants of the parish of Willington for sports and pastimes.  The area 

is deserted most of the time, the only activities being recycling and 

football (played by a small number and persons from other locations) 

• Only 200 questionnaires issued to a selected group of residents. 

• Questionnaires sent selectively to residents who would be in favour of the 

Application. 

• Questionnaires sent selectively to residents which is not a fair 

representation of majority opinion. 

• Only 104 supporters of registering the Application land as a TVG out of a 

population of approximately 2700 residents. 

• Requirement for registration as a TVG is continuous use by a significant 

number of inhabitants of the parish for lawful sports and pastimes; The 

application appears to fail at first hurdle. Following a detailed survey by 

several villagers recording use over several weeks around Easter, the 

field was used for dog walking and football. (My) own recording revealed 

just one child playing with his father and a football. 

• When in use by footballers the field is not free to use by the public 

• If TVG status were granted what would happen if you were having a 

picnic, playing rounders, frisbee, children's party etc and the football team 

turned up; which party would take priority, as Village Green status would 

be for everyone? 

• If successful field would not be fully available - much of the field is used 

for football training and matches. 

 
Parish Council Objection 
 
2.17 The Parish Council submitted a substantial statement in objection to the 

Application which sets out their case that the Application Land fails to 
meet the statutory test under section 15(2).  In particular it is the Parish 
Council’s case that the Application Land has not been used as of right 
but rather by right throughout the Claim Period. 

 
2.18 In support of the statement the Parish Council has provided various 

pieces of evidence including a copy of the byelaws covering the 
Application Land, a copy of an aerial photograph showing the scout hut, 
receipts for payments by Willington FC, completed hire forms and 
invoices for the hire of the Application Land. 

 
 

Page 10



7 

 

2.19 The Parish Council state that: 
 

• The Application Land was acquired on 05/02/1962 following a Parish 

Council Meeting of 25/01/1960, when it was resolved to negotiate the 

purchase of the field, "as a Playing Field for the Parish" subject to 

Planning Permission. 

• The Application Land was acquired, owned, provided by and statutorily 

regulated by the Parish Council and the conveyancing plan identifies the 

land as "proposed Playing Field". They quote Carnwath J (Supreme 

Court judge) who said it is, “obvious that TVG contrasts with other open 

spaces, for example, recreation grounds maintained by local authorities”. 

• At a Parish Council Meeting of 29/01/1960 it was recommended that a 

member from each of the bowls, tennis, football and youth club should be 

invited to serve on a (Management) Committee along with members of 

the Parish Council 

• At a meeting of 25/10/1976 it was resolved to ask the South Derbyshire 

District Council to draft byelaws to cover the following: dogs to be kept on 

leads and not allowed to foul; no motor cycling; no horse riding, but with 

concessions for pony rides on carnival days with prior written permission 

from the Parish Council (as resolved at meeting on 27/09/1976) 

• From the Parish Council AGM of 31/03/1980, the Chairman's Report 

noted that, "the Parish Council has been concerned with the use… of the 

Playing Field and the play areas. Two particular items have been 

unauthorised accesses and the exercising of dogs. In order to clarify the 

position of the Parish Council, byelaws to control the use of such areas 

have been drafted and are shortly to be approved by Central 

Government. These byelaws will enable the Parish Council to have full 

control over the use of the areas with the force of the law behind it." 

• The byelaws were made on 24/09/1979 and were approved by the 

Secretary of State and came into operation on 01/06/1980. The byelaws 

were made under s164 Public Health Act 1876 and s12 & s15 Open 

Spaces Act 1906 and relate to 'the Pleasure Grounds'. S12 provides that, 

'a local authority may exercise all powers…in respect of any open 

spaces… which may be vested in them…' 

• At a meeting of 28/07/1980 it was resolved that a notice of the making of 

the byelaws should be displayed on site to inform the public 

• The Parish Council argue that some Lawful Sports and Pastimes which 

in themselves are lawful, if carried out on the playing field without express 

permission, are in breach of the byelaws and the users are therefore 

committing an offence, particularly if they involve the erection of any post, 

rail, fence, pole, tent, booth, stand, building or other structure, all of which 

Page 11



8 

 

would require the Parish Council to grant a licence. It is also prohibited, 

without licence to offer for sale, let or hire any commodity or article. Also 

prohibited is the riding of a bicycle, tricycle or similar machine. It is an 

offence to enter with a dog unless under proper control and efficiently 

restrained from causing annoyance. Any area of the field marked out for 

a specific sport can only be used with Parish Council permission. It is 

prohibited to play any game when the ground is unfit to do so subject to 

a notice stating it is so. Driving, chipping or pitching a solid golf ball is not 

allowed. Where a game could cause damage or injury to others, the 

Parish Council may provide notice that an area is for players of that game 

only. There is a 'no golf' sign at the entrance to the field which was paid 

for on 09/04/2001 

 
2.20 Turning their attention to the user-evidence forms the Parish Council 

state: 
 

• Many of the users have referred to the village Carnival which has been 

allowed to take place on the Application Land with the express permission 

of the Parish Council, as proven by the minutes from meetings of 

29/10/1990 & 20/01/1992 which record letters from the Carnival 

Committee requesting permission to use the field. There are also the 

subsequent 'hire forms' which were completed and received by the Parish 

Council 

• Users refer to Cub Scout use. The Scout Hut used to be on the field 

before moving elsewhere and there are now recycling facilities in its 

place. At the Parish Council meeting of 06/01/1992 a request was 

received from the Scout group to use the land for a monthly car wash 

service and a sporting event. At the Parish Council meeting of 27/04/1992 

it is recorded that the annual rent for the Scout Hut was £1.00. At the 

Parish Council meeting of 27/07/1992 the Scout group requested use of 

the Application Land area for a BBQ and Balloon day. Further requests 

were noted at the Parish Council Meetings of 25/01/1993, 26/07/1993 

and 25/07/1994. The Scout group were granted permission to use the 

field on 09/09/1995, 05/11/2005, 04/11/2006 and 03/11/2007 for 

fireworks displays and therefore organisers and attendees did so with 

permission. The Scout Hut was in situ until 1999. 

• Many users refer to playing or watching football. The football pitch been 

in situ since 1962. The pitch and changing rooms are hired out for match 

days. The pavilion is only available to those hiring the playing fields and 

not to general public.  

• There are records of payments made by the football teams on 

16/08/1991, 26/06/1992, 23/10/1992 and 10/06/2003 through to 

Page 12



9 

 

25/06/2009.  The Parish Council provide an example of an agreement for 

hire in 1997/1998. The playing fields were hired on Sundays (09:30-

12:30) & Wednesdays (18:00-20:30). Other football teams and courses 

have also hired the pitch in 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 

• Other requests and hire forms include: Pre-school playgroup (1991 and 

1992); Baptist Chapel (1990 and 1992); Millennium Committee 

(*1999/2000); Triathlon Club (2009) 

 
2.21 Concluding their arguments, the Parish Council state: 
 

• Use of Application Land for formal activities such as football matches and 

training; Carnivals; Fireworks throughout the relevant period has been by 

licence of the Parish Council. 

• Informal use of the Application Land such as dog walking is regulated by 

Byelaws made under the 1906 Act. 

• The Application Land was acquired for recreational use by the public, 

exercised by the Parish Council under statutory powers. 

• Land laid out for public use (e.g. the football pitch) is maintained and 

regulated under a statutory trust (s10 Open Spaces Act 1906) and use of 

the Application Land has been pursuant to a legal right, not against the 

will of the Parish Council, and such use would not have appeared to the 

Parish Council to have been so in claim of any other right. 

• The evidence provided by the Parish Council shows that football teams 

and others have been permitted to use the field on payment to reserve 

and use the pitch or the whole field (e.g. carnival / fireworks). 

• The Parish Council retained the power to admit or exclude persons. 

• Permission has been requested by various persons and groups and 

consent has been granted, sometimes with restrictions, or refused. 

• On occasions the Parish Council has prevented use of the land. 

• Parish Council meetings minutes are on public record and there are no 

other requirements for further publication of Parish Council resolutions 

• The Byelaws were notified to the public and are publicly available. 

• The Parish Council refer to relevant case law in the objection, and quote 

Lord Walker at paragraph 81 of R (Beresford) v Sunderland CC 

(Beresford) in which Lord Walker states, “Where land is vested in a local 

authority as a statutory trust under section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 

1906 inhabitants of the locality are beneficiaries of a statutory trust of a 

public nature and it would be very difficult to regard those who use the 

park or other open space as trespassers (even if that expression is toned 

down  to tolerated trespassers). The position would be the same if there 

was no statutory trust in the strict sense, but land had been appropriated 

Page 13



10 

 

for purposes of public recreation.” The Parish Council add that, in these 

circumstances, where the public are able to make use of the land for 

recreation in pursuance of a legal right, no further consent or licence is 

required to exclude the operation of S.15 of the 2006 Act and notes that 

the Parish Council has powers given by statute to bring to an end the 

operation of the trust and to dispose of the land free of restriction - 

sections 122 & 123 Local Government Act 1972 

 
2.22 In conclusion to the Parish Council’s objection they state that the 

Applicants have not proven on the balance of probabilities that the use of 
the land for Legal Sports and Pastimes has been as of right and therefore, 
nec iv, nec clam, nec precario. That use has been by right under a licence 
or statutory trust. (Nec vi, nec clam, nec precario, is a Latin legal term 
meaning 'without force, without secrecy, without permission') 

 
2.23 The applicant has responded to the statements in objection and have 

raised various points, some of which are not considered relevant as they 
do not relate to the use of the Application Land and are summarised 
below: 

 

• The South Derbyshire District Council’s own survey shows a shortage of 

open space to population in Willington 

• The Application Land is prime development land 

• Alternative land has been found for the new surgery 

• Since the approach to build on the land, the applicants and others have 

asked the Parish Council to hold a Parish meeting to gauge opinion and 

to submit the area for QE2 2012 playing field status, yet no meeting 

arranged was arranged 

• The Parish Council sets out why they bought the land but fails to give 

reasons for needing the land 

• The original play area had been sold for development but was then 

purchased by Parish Council following a meeting in 25/04/1960 and 

registered in the name of the Parish Council for legal reasons 

 
2.24 The Applicants also raised points that are considered valid and are 

summarised below: 
 

• According to a document, "Parish of Willington Guide (March 1968) there 

was a playing field committee made up of PC members and sports 

organisations 

Page 14



11 

 

• One parishioner claims the land has not had continuous use, which is 

wrong as shown by the user evidence forms, and the objections 

themselves indicate usage and therefore support the application 

• They believe that the Parish Council contradicts itself because the fact 

that the football club and other groups use the field with permission and 

therefore 'by right', shows that individuals are using the field 'as of right' 

• It is polite and courteous to allow organised events to take place 

• Byelaws can apply to village greens 

• All but one of the Parishioners primarily object due to the need for the 

doctors' surgery and the Applicants’ view is that that objection has no 

basis, as no development currently planned 

• The Applicants maintain that they use the field as of right and, as 

individuals, have never requested or been refused permission. 

 
2.25 In conclusion they write, “we always use this land ‘as of right’ as do most 

of the parishioners that you might find on the land on any day of the week” 
 
Consideration of the evidence and submissions 

 
2.26 The Applicants have submitted a substantial amount of evidence to 

support their claim that the Application Land is well used by a significant 
number of residents of ‘The Parish of Willington’. 

 
2.27 Although there is evidence of significant use of the Application Land the 

majority of that use appears to be by people either playing or watching 
football, with the majority of other users referring to events and clubs such 
as Carnivals, firework displays and cub scout meetings, all of which were 
undertaken with the permission of the Parish Council and through the  
hire of the Application Land. The evidence submitted by the Parish 
Council proves that the Application Land was hired out for such activities. 
Such permissive use does not satisfy the requirements of the 2006 Act 
for land to be registered as a TVG as such use is not as of right, but by 
right. 

 
2.28 There remain other users that have not used the Application Land with 

express permission but of those twenty residents, eleven have described 
using the land for dog walking. Such use is restricted by the byelaws 
described above and for that reason, such use can be considered to be 
‘by right’. The byelaws permit the public to walk their dogs on the land, 
provided the dog is under proper control and efficiently restrained from 
causing annoyance. Anyone exercising their dogs on the playing field 
where the dog is not under proper control or efficiently restrained is in 
breach of the byelaws and subsequently committing a criminal offence. 

Page 15



12 

 

Therefore, all use for dog walking should be discounted as it cannot be 
considered as of right.  

 
2.29 Two users failed to describe how they had used the Application Land in 

any way, which leaves only seven residents who could unrefutably claim 
to have always used the Application Land ‘as of right’. Seven residents in 
a parish the size of Willington which has circa 3000 inhabitants does not 
represent a significant proportion of a locality.  The 2006 Act does not 
define what constitutes a “significant number of the inhabitants of any 
locality... or of any neighbourhood”, but in R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd) 
v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin), Sullivan J held: 

  
“71. Dealing firstly with the question of a significant number, I do 
not accept the proposition that significant in the context of section 
22(1) as amended means a considerable or a substantial number. 
A neighbourhood may have a very limited population and a 
significant number of the inhabitants of such a neighbourhood 
might not be so great as to be properly described as a considerable 
or a substantial number. In my judgment the inspector approached 
the matter correctly in saying that “significant”, although imprecise, 
is an ordinary word in the English language and little help is to be 
gained from trying to define it in other language”. 

 
2.30 The Applicants maintain that they have always used the Application Land 

as of right yet also state that, “as individuals, we never have requested or 
been refused permission to use this land for lawful pastimes”. However, 
the Applicants have used the Application Land with permission for the 
reasons described below: 

 

• Applicant 1: for playing football, Carnivals, firework displays and with the 

Chapel Summer School 

• Applicant 2: for playing football, Carnivals, firework displays, cub scout 

activities and organised sports events/days 

• Applicant 3: for playing football, Carnivals, firework displays, cub scout 

activities and watching football 

• Applicant 4: for playing football, firework displays, cub scout activities and 

watching football 

 
2.31 The Parish Council have provided copies of byelaws which restrict the 

use of the Application Land and which were made under S164 Public 
Health Act 1876 and S12 & 15 Open Spaces Act 1906 advising that S12 
provides that, 'a local authority may exercise all powers…in respect of 
any open spaces… which may be vested in them…' and also refer the 
registration authority to consider the deliberations in Beresford, in 

Page 16



13 

 

particular where Lord Walker considers that local inhabitants are the 
beneficiaries of a statutory trust under section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 
1906 and therefore shouldn’t be considered as trespassers. The Parish 
Council’s interpretation has weight that where the public are able to make 
use of the land for recreation in pursuance of a legal right, no further 
consent or licence is required to exclude the operation of S.15 of the 2006 
Act. 

 
2.32 The local residents who have objected to the Application have done so 

for various reasons including the lack of use of the Application Land by 
individuals, their concerns that the user-evidence forms were limited in 
number and only delivered to people the Applicants believed would 
support the Application and perhaps most pertinently the fact that when 
there were football matches taking place (or other organised 
events/sports) the Application Land was not free to use for lawful sports 
and pastimes by the inhabitants of the locality.  

 
2.33 The Applicants have argued that all but one of the local residents’ 

objections were primarily based on the need for the new surgery and as 
that development was no longer going ahead, the objections have no 
basis. The Applicants are correct that the need for the new surgery is no 
basis for a valid objection to the Application (regardless of whether the 
development was due to go ahead or not) but there were four objectors 
who didn’t refer to the surgery at all, while others made other valid points 
as described above. 

 
2.34 In conclusion, the Applicants have not shown, on the balance of 

probabilities that the Application Land has been used by a significant 
proportion of the inhabitants of a locality as of right for lawful sports and 
pastimes and the Parish Council have proven that there has historically 
been permissive and paid for use of the Application Land. 

 
Further Consideration 
 
2.35 On 11 December 2019 a majority of the United Kingdom Supreme Court 

– Lord Carnwath, Lord Sales and Lady Black JJSC – held that parcels of 
land owned by Lancashire County Council and NHS Property Services 
Ltd could not be registered as TVGs because the land was held by the 
authorities for defined statutory purposes, and registration as a TVG 
would be in conflict with those statutory purposes. This is known as the 
principle of ‘statutory incompatibility’. 

 
2.36 The County Council has previously sought Counsel’s advice regarding 

the application of the Lancashire decision when determining TVG 

Page 17



14 

 

applications where the land is held by a public authority. Counsel’s advice 
is considered below.  

 
2.37 In respect of a public authority providing evidence of the statutory powers 

under which it holds land, Counsel considers Lancashire and the need to 
identify the statutory purpose for which land was held, concluding: 
 
“Statutory incompatibility does not apply like a blanket policy to all land in 
public ownership. The powers must be identified so that it can be 
examined if there is, in fact, an incompatibility at all. Therefore, in my 
view, there needs to be more than an assertion. However, the evidence 
need not be conclusive and it is reasonable to make presumptions about 
pieces of evidence that cannot be found anymore.” 
 

2.38 Further she states that where a public body has identified the reason for 
which land was acquired but hasn’t identified the specific statutory power 
that is pursuant to: 
 
“I do not consider that that is necessarily fatal to an argument that 
statutory incompatibility applies because all local authority powers to 
acquire and hold land must be derived from some statutory power to hold 
land for a particular purpose.” 
 

2.39 In her advice, relating to another application but where statutory 
incompatibility was relevant, Counsel considers whether there is an 
incompatibility between use of the land for ‘highways and depots’ and 
registration as a TVG. She observes that use for ‘highways and depots’ 
may require potential building operations and vehicular access which 
would be prohibited by the 19th century Victorian legislation in s. 29 of 
the Commons Act 1976 and s. 29 of the Commons Act 1876 which 
applies to nuisances. This observation in relation to ‘highways and 
depots’ can also be attributed to other purposes for which land may be 
held. In this matter, the Application Land was held for recreational 
purposes and purchased as playing fields for the parish. The Parish 
Council, has been free to hire out the land to various groups for their sole 
use, erect structures such as the recycling units and goalposts and to 
mark out sports pitches upon which use is restricted by byelaws, the 
Parish Council would also have been free to develop the land as they 
saw appropriate in order to provide the best facilities for the recreation 
and sporting pursuits of the parish residents and to provide any facilities 
to improve the provision of playing fields, such as changing rooms. 
 

2.40 Counsel’s conclusion in relation to the other application was, “I therefore 
consider that the application should fail on account of a statutory 
incompatibility between the Borough Council’s holding of the land for 

Page 18



15 

 

“highways and depots” and the recreational rights that would flow from 
TVG registration. The consequence is that the Borough Council’s rights 
prevail, and it is not open to the applicant to register this land as a TVG. 
I would therefore advise that the application is dismissed.” 

 
2.41 The Applicants for this application were written to and offered the 

opportunity to comment on the Lancashire decision in relation to VG118. 
 
2.42 The Applicants responded on 24 January 2022 suggesting that, in their 

opinion, the Lancashire decision strengthened their Application rather 
than impeded it, referring to the ‘The Court of Appeal’, which they state 
“made clear that the critical test is whether or not the statutory rights or 
duties make the land incompatible for registration as a town or village 
green”, and that, “The test consists of three central elements, satisfaction 
of which weighs in favour of incompatibility: 

 
1. There must be specific statutory purposes or provisions relating to 

the land. 
2. Parliament must have conferred on the landowner the powers to 

use the land for those specific statutory purposes, which are 
incompatible with the land's use as a town or village green. 

3. Registration as a town or village green must clearly impede, restrict 
or prevent the exercise of the statutory powers or duties relating to 
the land.” 

 
2.43 The Applicants state: 
 

• The 1962 Willington Parish Council minutes clearly state the purpose 
of the acquisition of the land, that of an adult playing field. 

• It is not a case of ‘implied permission’ where the landowner merely 
tolerated the public’s use, but the land was acquired for public 
recreation. 

• The Application Land, being recreational, was in keeping with a village 
green with no other statutory purpose for use, such as housing or 
commercial 
Registration would not impede the exercise of statutory powers or 
duties. Registration as a town or village green is utterly in keeping with 
use of the land for the past 60 years. 
 

2.44 The Applicants conclude that, “By having to ask for permission to have 
larger activities such as local league football or fetes does not impede on 
the 'use as of right' but it is for the purpose of attempting to accommodate 
conflicting uses. As individuals we have on many occasions been on the 
area while local league football was being played, as only a part of the 
area is taken up, the rest can still be used for lawful sports and pastimes 

Page 19



16 

 

'as of right' (being without force, without permission and not in secrecy) 
by local inhabitants”.  

 
2.45 The Applicants’ opinion that the Lancashire decision strengthens their 

application cannot be upheld by the Council, as Registration Authority. 
Whether land held for a statutory purpose is incompatible with registration 
as a TVG is either relevant or not; it can either have no effect on an 
application or prevent an application from being successful. The 
Applicants confirm that the land was acquired by the Parish Council for 
use as an ‘adult playing field’ which would suggest that the land would 
not be readily available to all local inhabitants but only the adult members 
of the parish. The Applicants state that, ‘having to ask for permission… 
(for) local league football or fetes does not impede on the 'use as of right'’. 
Unfortunately for the Applicants, this is incorrect as it reiterates and 
strengthens the Parish Council’s assertion that use of the land has been 
controlled and permission granted on an ongoing basis and therefore has 
been by right.  
 

2.46 On the evidence presented, the principle of statutory incompatibility may 
not apply in this situation but, the fact that the land was acquired for use 
as an adult recreation facility adds weight to the argument that use of the 
land has been by right rather than as of right. 

 
2.47 Given that, on balance,  the consideration of the evidence both in support 

and in objection to the Application shows that the use of the Application 
Land has been ‘by right’ rather than ‘as of right’ the remaining elements 
of the statutory test are not addressed although in order to provide 
thorough consideration, it has been considered whether there is a 
statutory incompatibility between TVG registration and the purpose for 
which the land is held by the Parish Council. 

 
2.48 The regulations governing the determination of town or village green 

applications made pursuant to section 15 of the 2006 Act are The 
Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens)(Interim 
Arrangements)(England) Regulations 2007 (“the 2007 Regulations”). 

 
2.49 The 2007 Regulations state, at regulation 6(4): 
 
 “The registration authority must not reject the application without giving 

the applicant a reasonable opportunity of dealing with – 
 
 (a) the matters contained in any statement of which copies are sent to 

him under paragraph (3); and 
 (b) any other matter in relation to the application which appears to the 

authority to afford possible grounds for rejecting the application.” 

Page 20



17 

 

 
2.50 In accordance with the requirements of regulation 6(4)(b) the Applicants 

have been provided with a copy of the Parish Council’s statement, and 
the Applicants have responded to the matters raised. The Applicants’ 
have also been offered the opportunity to provide their comments on 
statutory incompatibility and have responded. The Applicants’’ responses 
have been considered and this is summarised above.  

 
3. Consultation 
 
3.1 Notice of the Application was published in the Derby Evening Telegraph 

on 22 July 2010 and posted on site. 
 
3.2 17 objections were received following the Notice of the Application. 
 
3.3 The details and issues raised in response to the consultation are 

summarised above. 
 
4. Alternative Options Considered 
 
4.1 Committee rejects the recommendation in relation to VG118 and resolves 

to register the land at Twyford Road Playing Field in Willington as a town 
or village green, if Committee members believe that the evidence in 
support of the Application shows that use of the land has been as of right, 
that is without force, without secrecy and without permission and that the 
evidence provided by the Parish Council to refute the claim that use has 
been as of right fails to prove that use of the land has been with the 
permission of the Parish Council and therefore by right. This option 
should be rejected because the evidence submitted in objection to the 
application is sufficient to prove, on the balance of probabilities, that the 
statutory tests for registration have not been met. 

 
4.2 That Committee neither rejects or accepts the recommendation and 

resolves not to determine the application. To neither accept nor reject the 
inspector’s recommendation would leave the application undetermined. 

 
5. Implications 
 
5.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 
6. Background Papers 
 
6.1 Application file VG118 (legal Services reference 49145) held by the 

Director of Legal Services. 

Page 21



18 

 

7. Appendices 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 – Implications. 
 
7.2 Appendix 2 – plan showing the land subject to the town or village green 

application. 
 
8. Recommendation(s) 
 

That Committee resolves to refuse the application to register the land at 
Twyford Road Playing Field in Willington as a town or village green.  

 
9. Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
9.1 Derbyshire County Council is the Registration Authority for the area of 

land which is the subject of the application. 
 
9.2 For the reasons set out in this report it has not been shown on the balance 

of probabilities that the statutory tests for registration have been met; that 
the Application Land has been used by a significant number of inhabitants 
of a neighbourhood within a locality for lawful sports and pastimes for a 
period of 20 years or more where that use has been as of right; without 
force, without secrecy and most pertinently without permission. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report Author:  Pete Shimwell    
Contact details: pete.shimwell@derbyshire.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 22

mailto:pete.shimwell@derbyshire.gov.uk


19 

 

Appendix 1 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1 The cost of determining this matter will be met from the existing budget 
 
Legal 
 
2.1 Legal considerations are considered within the main body of the report. 
 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 None associated with this report 
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None associated with this report 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 None associated with this report. 
 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 None associated with this report. 
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 In preparing the Report the relevance of the following factors as far as 
they are not covered by the Report has been considered: social value, 
environmental, health, personal and property considerations, the prevention of 
crime and disorder, equality of opportunity. 
  

Page 23



20 

 

Appendix 2 
 
 

Plan showing the land subject to the town or village green application 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 24



RP13 2022.docx    1 
11 April 2022 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

11 April 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director - Place 
 

Application under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 for permission not to comply with Condition 31 of 
Planning Permission Code Number CW8/0417/1, so as to allow the 
storage of material above the Nutbrook Culvert within the 
permitted site at Johnsons Recycling Centre, Crompton Road, 
Ilkeston, DE7 4BG 
Applicant: Johnsons Aggregates & Recycling Limited 
Code No: CW8/0721/18  

8.1087.17 
 

Introductory Summary 
This is an application made under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended, which seeks permission not to comply with 
Condition 31 of planning permission code no.CW8/0417/1. The granting of 
such a permission would allow the storage of material above the Nutbrook 
Culvert within the permitted site at Johnson’s Recycling Centre, Crompton 
Road, Ilkeston. The applicant is seeking the removal of Condition 31 to enable 
Incinerator Bottom Ash Aggregate to be stored above the Nutbrook Culvert to 
increase storage capacity on the site and thereby improve efficiency. The 
stability of the Culvert has been assessed by the applicant and the storage 
area above the Culvert would be capable of holding a maximum load of 5,000 
tonnes without causing damage.  
 
There have been ongoing concerns about the impacts of dust and odour from 
the site. Updated dust and odour management plans are considered to be 
needed now.  A planning condition to require the submission of updated plans 
is included in the draft conditions that are set out in the recommendation.  
 
Provided that any permission from this application is granted subject to such a 
set of conditions, I am satisfied that the carrying on of the development under 
that permission would not give rise to any additional or otherwise 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



RP13 2022.docx    2 
11 April 2022 

unacceptable impacts and that it would accord with the policies of the 
development plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 
recommended conditions. 
 
(1) Purpose of Report  To enable the Committee to determine the 
application. 
 
(2)  Information and Analysis 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site is located on the industrial edge of Ilkeston, at the 
southern end of the now extensive Quarry Hill Industrial Estate (formerly the 
Stanton Ironworks complex), off the junction of Compton Road and Merlin 
Way, approximately 2.5 kilometres (km) south of the Town centre. The 
Industrial Estate is accessible from the west, primarily via the A6096 and 
Sowbrook Lane/Ilkeston Road, and from the east via Trowell, the A609 and 
Low’s Lane/Ilkeston Road. Quarry Hill/Hallam Fields Industrial Estates include 
a number of varied industrial and business uses, amongst them are several 
other waste recycling operations in close proximity to the application site 
(Ward Recycling Ltd, Stanton Recycling, Trust Utilities Management and 
Castle Environmental). 
 
The application site consists of approximately 2.8 hectares (ha) of a flat open 
hard-surfaced yard area, where there is a centrally located large, high sided 
building which houses the extensive recycling equipment used to recycle 
incinerator ash and office accommodation.  
 
Outside in the yard area, and immediately adjacent to the building, there is 
extensive external plant, conveyors, gantries, bays and the chimney stack 
which are utilised in the recycling process. The western section of the site (on 
the area of the former rifle range) is used for the storage and screening of 
material, and it is within this area that the storage above the culvert is 
proposed.  
 
The site is bounded to the north by a short stretch of unadopted road then by 
industrial units. Immediately to the east are other units/businesses on the 
industrial estate and to the north-west an area of undeveloped vegetated land 
which includes a section of the Nutbrook Trail/National Cycle Route which 
follows the site boundary. The site is bounded to the south and south-west by 
the extensive open areas of the former Stanton Works which is subject to an 
application under consideration by Erewash Borough Council for re-
development.    
 
The Nutbrook Trail (Permissive Greenway No 118 and a National Cycle 
Route) runs alongside the west and northern boundaries of the site and 

Page 26



RP13 2022.docx    3 
11 April 2022 

crosses the site access. The site is situated within a Flood Risk 2 Area. The 
site lies at a low elevation, situated along the River Erewash corridor where 
the floodplain widens out at the point of convergence with the Nutbrook Valley, 
wherein there is the (now disused) Nutbrook Canal. 
 
The application site is accessed from the main traffic route through the Quarry 
Hill Industrial Estate via Merlin Way/Crompton Road. From the Merlin 
Way/Crompton Road junction, the site is accessed via a section of unadopted 
highway which is shared with other adjacent businesses. The site lies within 6 
miles of Junction 25 of the M1 Motorway and the A52 Dual Carriageway. 
 
The nearest residential properties lie approximately 350 metres (m) to the 
north of the site on Hallam Fields Road. To the north-east there are residential 
properties approximately 500m at the closest point. The village of Stanton-by-
Dale is just over 1.5km to the south-west. The village of Trowell lies to the 
east of the site, which is separated from the application site by the River 
Erewash, the Erewash Canal, a waste water treatment works, the Nottingham-
Loughborough main railway line and the M1 Motorway. Within 1km to the 
south-east and beyond the M1 Motorway are the towns of Stapleford and 
Sandiacre.  
 
The Local Wildlife Site (LWS) ref. ER217 Stanton Ironworks is located 
adjacent to the south/south-west boundary of the site. The LWS Quarry Hill 
Lagoons wildlife site ref. ER201 is adjacent to the north-west boundary of the 
site. LWS ref. ER215 Erewash Canal is approximately 245m east of the 
application site. Local Nature Reserve (LNR) Trowell Marsh is 380m to the 
north-east.  
 
There are no Public Rights of Way (PRoW) within the site, although there are 
a number close by. Public footpath (Ilkeston E6/79/1) is approximately 350m 
north of the site. It runs along Hallam Fields Road and connects to three 
others (including the Erewash Canal Towpath) which meet immediately to the 
east of Hallam Fields Bridge (Ilkeston E6/78/2, Ilkeston E6/81/6 and Ilkeston 
E6/81/7). In addition to this, PRoW Ilkeston E6/81/7 is within 300m of the 
application area and is separated from the site by the Erewash Canal.  
 
The site is operated by Johnsons Aggregates and Recycling Limited and 
involves the importation, processing and recycling of Incinerator Bottom Ash 
(IBA), which is the ash residue from incinerator facilities, to produce a recycled 
aggregate, Incinerator Bottom Ash Aggregate (IBAA). The waste facility 
imports and recycles up to 350,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) of waste, 
comprising up to 300,000 tpa of IBA and up to 50,000 tpa of waste metal, 
which is a constituent part of IBA waste. The application site is located 
adjacent to the northern boundary of the Stanton Regeneration Site which has 
a long industrial heritage dating back 250 years. The Stanton Regeneration 
Site, which is set out in the Erewash Core Strategy, is proposed to form a new 

Page 27



RP13 2022.docx    4 
11 April 2022 

sustainable neighbourhood consisting of 2,000 homes, 10ha Business Park, 
general industry, employment land and a 20ha wildlife/ recreation corridor. 
Erewash Borough Council is currently considering a planning application for 
the comprehensive redevelopment of the Stanton Regeneration Site for 
employment, B2 (Industrial), B8 (Storage and Distribution) and associated 
infrastructure and open space. 
 
The Proposal 
The application seeks permission not to comply with Condition 31 of planning 
permission code no. CW8/0417/1, which would allow materials to be 
stockpiled above the Nutbrook Culvert.  
 
Condition 31 prohibits the stockpiling of any materials which is carried out 
under this current permission within 8m of the Nutbrook Culvert. This 
prohibition was first imposed by a condition to the first planning permission for 
this development, under code no. CW8/0413/17. It protects access to the 
culvert should it need repair or replacement, thereby ensuring that the integrity 
of the Nutbrook Culvert is maintained. This Section 73 application is seeking 
removal of this prohibition to allow the stockpiling of IBBA in this 8m stand-off 
area. 
 
The Nutbrook Culvert in this location comprises of two culverts running 
parallel to each other which are ovoid shape each being 1.57m wide x 2.18m 
deep and set 635 millimetres (mm) part. The culverts are set 3.6m below 
ground level and are 35m in length along the restricted section. The 
supporting information submitted with the application states that the culverts 
would be able to support a maximum loading of 5,000 tonnes. The supporting 
information further states that the normal operational tonnage on the land 
above the culvert would be 2,800 tonnes with a physical maximum capacity of 
4,800 tonnes. 
 
The applicant also notes that there are no inspection covers or access points 
within the site boundary and therefore there would be no impact on future 
maintenance access requirements.  
 
Planning History 
Prior to the development of the site for IBA processing the site was derelict but 
had previously been used for small valve production and the western section 
used as a rifle range.  
 
The following planning permissions relating to the site have been granted by 
the Council: 
 
 
 

Page 28



RP13 2022.docx    5 
11 April 2022 

Planning 
permission 
reference 

Development Date granted 

CW8/0413/17 Processing and recycling of incinerator 
bottom ash, aggregates and soils. 

22 May 2014 

CW8/0616/24 Raise the roof of an existing building 
and the erection of a dryer stack. 

1 December 
2016 

CW8/0616/25 Variation of Condition 3 of planning 
permission CW8/0413/17 to allow a 
minor change to the external 
arrangements of the site.   

1 December 
2016 

CW8/0417/1 Not to comply with Conditions 3 and 6 of 
planning permission CW8/0413/17 to 
allow the import and processing of 
waste metals (instead of construction 
and demolition waste).   

20 July 2017 

CW8/0817/37 Extension of storage facilities  
(This permission extended the area 
available for storage purposes to 
include land to the south-east of this 
site) 

5 March 2018 

CW8/0819/43 Retention of workshop/stores 12 June 2020 
 
The applicant company has extended its activities onto an adjacent area of 
land immediately to the south of the site without the benefit of planning 
permission. This land is being used for the storage and processing of IBAA. 
The initial use of this land, which started around 2019, related to the storage 
of IBAA which was intended to be used by the owner of the land at that time. 
The landownership since changed, and the material was not required by the 
new owner. Because of Covid-19, the demand for IBAA (used in the 
building/construction industry) fell but contractual commitments meant there 
was a need to continue accepting and processing raw material from the waste 
incinerators remained. As a result, additional IBAA was stored on the 
unauthorised land. This matter has been investigated by the Council, and the 
Environment Agency, which has taken formal action in respect of the 
unauthorised activity. The applicant company is in the process of removing 
material from the land to secure its clearance and the company’s vacation of it 
by the end of June 2022. 
 
Consultations 
 
Local Members 
Councillor Gibson and Councillor Major have been notified of the application.  
 
 
 

Page 29



RP13 2022.docx    6 
11 April 2022 

Trowell Parish Council 
The Parish Council’s comments in the covering email to its consultation 
response are as follows: 
 
“As a Parish Council we cannot support any further development by Johnsons 
until they can demonstrate that they have complete control over their current 
processes. We suffer on an almost daily basis from alkaline dust, which has to 
be cleaned on a daily basis from Vehicles, Caravans, Motor Homes, Garden 
Furniture, Window Frames in/on every property in the village. We also breathe 
and ingest it. 
 
Positive Action from yourselves, the Environment Agency and the 
environmental Departments of Erewash and Broxtowe is urgently required.”  
 
The Parish Council also provided in its consultation response, comments on 
the proposal to remove Condition 31 and further comments about the impacts 
of dust and odour, specifically on the wider operations at the Johnsons 
Aggregates site.  These comments are as follows:  
  
“This application to remove a restrictive planning condition appears to be an 
application to legalise something that Johnsons have been carrying out for a 
number of years. 
 
The mountain of Incinerator bottom ash (IBA) that is currently on site has been 
allowed to accumulate with little regard to the affect it has had on the residents 
of Trowell. Living in Trowell currently appears to replicate the conditions 
suffered by people living close to Active Volcanoes. Anything, left out in either 
a front or back garden is constantly affected by dust. Eating outside in the 
summer months is impossible, tables, chairs and food are quickly 
contaminated by dust. 
 
The IBA mountain also has a very offensive odour, which has been noticed 
over 2 miles from the site. 
 
We know that the dust and odour come from this site. The tall chimney stack 
always indicates when the site is in operation. As soon as it stops this 
indication the odour and the dust disappear. 
 
The 3-paragraph supporting statement added below, seems to indicate that 
Johnsons are either unaware or do not care about the issues that they inflict 
on Trowell Residents daily. 
 
As a Parish Council we believe that we have a duty to protect the health and 
amenity of our residents, as do Erewash Borough Council, The Environment 
Agency and Derbyshire County Council. Hence our decision to strongly 
oppose any further development of Johnsons business. 

Page 30



RP13 2022.docx    7 
11 April 2022 

This application should not be passed until Johnsons can quite clearly 
demonstrate that all of their current operations are under control. Any dust or 
odour produced as part of their processes, should be contained within the 
curtilage of their land. 
 
As this is an airborne issue, the prevailing wind direction is from Johnson’s 
site to our village so while not constantly an issue it is nevertheless an issue 
around 70-80% of the year, making life unbearable, it limits residents garden 
usage and necessitates frequent cleaning especially of vehicles and garden 
furniture. 
 
Cars have streaks in the windscreens that appear to be etched into the glass 
(which cannot be cleaned off), one resident installed a new copper beehive 
roof which became oxidised in the space of only 4 weeks exposure indicating 
an oxidation/reduction effect of the dust. 
 
This has alarming implications for our health as we breath that dust in. When 
the wind is blowing from the direction of the Johnsons site, everyone keeps 
their windows closed. 
 
Municipal solid waste incineration produces a non-combustible by-product 
known as incinerator bottom ash (IBA). Increase in waste production leads to 
increase in bottom ash, which raises environmental concerns and 
management issues.  
 
The parameters and properties of bottom ash are in close agreement with 
those of aggregates used in concrete making, bottom ash has been adopted 
for reutilization in civil engineering (this is why Johnsons process it). The 
typical chemical constituents of incinerator bottom ash are shown below. One 
of the main constituents of Incinerator bottom ash is Calcium Oxide, this can 
form Calcium Hydroxide, when heated and particles are released into the air. 
Worryingly, heavy metals such as Arsenic, Cadmium, Chromium, Nickel and 
Lead are also present 
 
Calcium Hydroxide 
Calcium hydroxide, or lime, is a common cause of alkali injury in the 
construction workplace. It is a white powdered or granular solid that is used to 
make plaster, cement, mortar, and whitewash. Since calcium hydroxide exists 
in a particulate form, it is commonly retained in the eye (particularly beneath 
the upper eyelid) and provides a continuous source of exposure. Fortunately, 
it penetrates the eye much more slowly than ammonium hydroxide or sodium 
hydroxide, forming insoluble calcium soaps during saponification of cell 
membrane fatty acids. The calcium soaps precipitate and make penetration of 
the cornea more difficult. Consequently, lime causes many of the superficial 
complications seen following other strong alkali injuries, but deeper structures, 
such as the iris and lens, are routinely spared. 

Page 31



RP13 2022.docx    8 
11 April 2022 

Although calcium hydroxide causes eye injuries that tend to be less severe 
than those of ammonium or sodium hydroxide, it promotes corneal 
opacification more quickly than other alkalis. More severe injuries occur when 
the pH is 12 or higher. 
 
As we have said many times, we do not object to business growth. It’s vital for 
the local economy and employment. However, such growth should not be at 
the expense of the health and amenity of residents living almost a mile away 
from the site. 
 
The fact that we are suffering from this issue, whilst almost a mile away, gives 
a very clear indication that something needs to be done about the process 
carried out on that site by Johnsons. 
 
What we all find particularly annoying is:- It would appear that we, the 
residents have to do the research into the harmful effects of the processes 
carried out by Johnsons. Rather than the agencies whose main function is to 
ensure that such industrial processes do not cause harm to the General 
Public.” 
 
Stanton by Dale Parish Council 
The Parish Council has been notified of the application.  
 
Erewash Borough Council – Planning  
Has been consulted and no comments have been received.  
 
Erewash Borough Council – Environmental Health Officer  
Raised no objections to the proposal.  
 
Environment Agency  
The Environment Agency (EA) provided the following comments: 
 
“The Environment Agency are against development over existing culverts and 
consequently in consultation with Derbyshire County Council, condition 31 
was imposed on planning permission CW8/0417/1, which states:  
 
There shall be no stocking of materials within 8 metres of the Nutbrook Culvert 
as indicated on the application details (FRA Section 3.4 of Appendix A).  
 
The reason for imposing this condition is as follows:  
 
To ensure the integrity of the Nutbrook Culvert is maintained and future 
access for maintenance/flood defence works is not affected.  
 
The applicant has submitted a Section 73 application which seeks to remove 
Condition 31 of planning permission CW8/0417/1.  

Page 32



RP13 2022.docx    9 
11 April 2022 

Whilst the landowner has ownership and maintenance responsibility of this 
culvert, the Environment Agency has a strategic overview role with regards to 
flood risk in the wider catchment. We are concerned that further development 
over culverts increases the risk of structural failure, it inhibits access for 
emergency maintenance and future opportunities to de-culvert and re-
naturalise the river may be precluded. 
 
We have worked closely with the applicant on this application and they have 
provided assurances through a CCTV survey and the commissioning of 
structural calculations, which seek to demonstrate that the Nut Brook culvert is 
capable of withstanding the anticipated loading. 
 
Additionally, we have advised the applicant that the proposals will require a 
flood risk activity permit under the Environmental Permitting (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2016. As part of this permit process, subject to approval 
and agreement, we may impose a defined timescale on the operations, which 
may require the applicant to re-apply for a permit in a number of years to be 
agreed. We will again need to be assured that the Nut Brook culvert is still 
structurally sound and any necessary maintenance is undertaken by the 
landowner. Additionally, we may re-review our strategic position with regards 
to the Nut Brook culvert at this location. 
 
Finally, if the Environment Agency were to require access, the applicant shall 
be required to remove any material from atop the culvert in an agreed 
timescale, in order for us to gain access and carry out statutory functions. 
 
The proposed development is for the storage of materials and no permanent 
building or structure is to be erected. Given the above mitigation measures are 
to be imposed through the flood risk activity permitting process, we are 
satisfied that Condition 31 can be removed, subject to the following conditions: 
 
Any materials being stored over the Nut Brook culvert shall be removed, upon 
the request of the Environment Agency in order to carry out their statutory 
functions.  
 
There shall be an ongoing obligation to continue monitoring and inspection of 
the Nut Brook culvert and remediate any structural issues identified within the 
confines of the development site. On becoming aware of such issues, these 
shall be reported immediately to the Environment Agency.” 
 
Nottinghamshire County Council 
Has no strategic comments to make regarding this application. 
  
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 
The Trust does not anticipate any ecological issues associated with the 
proposal.   

Page 33



RP13 2022.docx    10 
11 April 2022 

East Midlands Airport  
East Midlands Airport raised no aerodrome safeguarding objections. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority  
Raised no objections to the proposal.  
 
Canal and River Trust 
The Canal and River Trust did not raise an objection but requested that 
consideration is given as to whether a Flood Risk Plan is necessary.   
 
Officer Comment: The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and the EA have not 
requested a Flood Risk Plan and, as such, it is not considered necessary.  
 
The Coal Authority  
Raised no objections to the proposal. 
 
Highway Authority  
Raised no objections to the proposal.  
 
Publicity 
The application has been advertised by site notice and press notice 
(Derbyshire Times) with a period for comments ending on 3 September 2021. 
In response to this publicity, one letter of representation objecting to the 
proposal was received. The letter expressed support of the comments from 
Trowell Parish Council in respect of dust and odour from the site.   
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
that all planning applications are determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are any material considerations which indicate 
otherwise. In respect of this application, the relevant development plan 
policies are contained in the saved polices of the adopted Derby and 
Derbyshire Waste Local Plan (DDWLP) (2005), the Adopted Erewash Core 
Strategy (2014) (ECS) and the saved policies within the Erewash Borough 
Local Plan Saved Policies 2005 (Amended 2014) (EBLP).  
 
Other material considerations include national policy, as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021), the associated Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG), Erewash Borough Council’s adopted Stanton 
Regeneration Site – Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2017), Waste 
Management Plan for England (WMPE) (2021), Resources and Waste 
Strategy (2018) and the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (2014).  
 
The relevant development plan policies that must be taken into account when 
considering this application are set out below: 

Page 34



RP13 2022.docx    11 
11 April 2022 

Derby and Derbyshire Waste Local Plan (2005) Policies 
W1b: Need for the Development. 
W6: Pollution and related nuisances. 
W7: Landscape and other visual impacts. 
W10: Cumulative Impact. 
 
Adopted Erewash Core Strategy (2014) Policies 
A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development. 
10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity. 
 
Erewash Borough Local Plan Saved Policies 2005 (Amended 2014) 
DC7: Development and Flood Risk. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
The NPPF sets out the Government’s key economic, social, and 
environmental objectives, and the planning policies designed to deliver them. 
The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. The NPPF states 
that local authorities taking decisions on waste applications should have 
regard to policies in the NPPF, so far as relevant.   At the heart of the NPPF is 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Achieving sustainable 
development means that the planning system has three overarching 
objectives which are economic, social, and environmental.  
 
The most relevant chapters from the NPPF for this development are:  
 
Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed spaces. 
Chapter 14: Meeting the climate change, flooding and coastal change. 
 
Waste Management Plan for England January 2021 
The WMPE clearly sets out the Government’s intention to secure greater 
reuse and recycling rates across all waste streams, moving waste up the 
hierarchy. The plan recognises that to achieve the goals of increased reuse 
and recycling, there will be a need to increase the provision of waste recycling 
facilities and, in particular, those catering for the recycling and preparation of 
domestic waste for reuse and recovery. 
 
National Planning Policy for Waste  
The NPPW was published in October 2014 and sets out detailed waste 
planning policies. The NPPW should be read in conjunction with the revised 
NPPF, and the WMPE. All local planning authorities should have regard to its 
policies when discharging their responsibilities to the extent that they are 
appropriate to waste management. 
 
The NPPW identifies that ‘Positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering 
this country’s waste ambitions through: … helping to secure the re-use, 

Page 35



RP13 2022.docx    12 
11 April 2022 

recovery, or disposal of waste without endangering human health and without 
harming the environment’.  
 
The NPPW also emphasises the need to divert as much waste as possible 
away from landfill. In order to achieve this, the movement of waste up through 
the waste hierarchy is essential. Appendix A of the NPPW details the waste 
hierarchy. The prevention and reuse of wastes sit at the top of the waste 
hierarchy, however, once wastes are actually discarded, recycling is one of 
the preferred management routes, where value is recovered in terms of 
secondary materials that can be substituted for virgin resources. Wastes that 
still remain should be diverted from landfill through processes that recover 
energy, with disposal of residual waste by landfill as a last resort. 
 
In addition to the above, the NPPW also sets out considerations, expectations, 
and guidance for the determination of waste planning applications. An 
example of this which can be applied to this application is “waste planning 
authorities should … concern themselves with implementing the planning 
strategy in the Local Plan and not with the control of processes which are a 
matter for the pollution control authorities. Waste planning authorities should 
work on the assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will be 
properly applied and enforced”. 
 
Stanton Regeneration Site Supplementary Planning Document 
The site is adjacent to land allocated in the ECS for the Stanton Regeneration 
Project. The bulk of the regeneration proposal land is separated from the 
application site by an area of existing industrial uses, and a belt of 
landscaping and wildlife sites crossed by a multi-user trail network.  
 
As stated above, an application has been submitted to Erewash Borough 
Council for development located on the land identified within this SPD. Whilst 
that application remains undetermined, it is of some relevance to the 
application now for consideration under this report, regarding cumulative 
impacts. It would generally be inappropriate, having regard to the ECS, the 
application now before EBC, and other considerations identified in this report, 
to permit development that may compromise the potential for the wider 
development of the regeneration site and the benefits to the locality that it may 
bring. 
 
At the time when the original application for the IBA processing facility on the 
application site was considered, an earlier draft version of the ECS identified 
part of the application site, which includes the Nutbrook culvert land within the 
site, as a potential access route to the Stanton regeneration area. A planning 
condition (previous Condition 3) was imposed to require this land to be made 
available for access, if required, at a future date. However, the subsequent 
adopted ECS and the SPD now exclude this part of the application site in the 
regeneration proposals. I therefore do not recommend carrying over this 

Page 36



RP13 2022.docx    13 
11 April 2022 

condition in any fresh grant of planning permission under this Section 73 
application.  
 
Key Considerations  
This application relates to an existing IBA processing and aggregates 
recycling facility development, the use of which is currently subject to controls 
by Condition 31 and the other relevant conditions to which a previously 
granted planning permission for the development is subject. 
 

The company imports, processes and recycles inert waste comprising IBA and 
metal wastes at the facility. Disposal of waste is at the bottom of the waste 
hierarchy and is considered to be the worst/last resort. The recycling operation 
undertaken at the site moves waste up the hierarchy in line with the objectives 
set out in the WMPE and the NPPW.  
 
Other than the removal of the prohibition under Condition 31, to allow storage 
of material above the Nutbrook culvert, no other changes in respect of the 
conditions to the base planning permission are sought by this application.    
The proposal does not seek to increase the throughput of material to and from 
the site or propose development that would differ in any other way from the 
previously consented development. No application for permission for 
substantively different development could be made under section 73. 
 
The applicant states within the application supporting information that there is 
a need for the removal of this condition to increase the sites’ storage capacity. 
Removal of the condition would in the applicant’s view make it easier to 
manage material stockpiles. The applicant states that it would “… remove a 
significant obstacle to the efficient running of the stocking area.”  
 
In principle, the need for the proposed removal of Condition 31 is considered 
justified, given that it would assist with managing the overall storage of IBBA 
onsite without increasing the materials brought onto site. 
 
The waste development carried out at this site has previously been assessed 
against the provisions of the development plan and relevant Government 
guidance in force at the time. When the original planning application was 
considered in 2014, they comprised the NPPF (2012), the DDWLP and the 
EBLP (2005).  The development and operation of an IBA waste processing 
facility on this site was found to be acceptable in the context of these 
development plan policies and national guidance and planning permission, 
subject to conditions was granted. Further permissions for amendments to the 
operations and extensions to the site have been granted subsequently, as 
described on page 5 of this report. The application which resulted in the 
permission under code no. CW8/0417/1 is the previous permission subject to 
conditions which the use of the facility is currently required to comply with.   

Page 37



RP13 2022.docx    14 
11 April 2022 

The current application, also made under section 73, seeks to release the 
ongoing use of the facility from the prohibition of Condition 31.    
 
However, since the granting of the original permission in 2014, there have 
been changes in both development plan policy and national guidance. The 
EBLP has been replaced by the ECS and the NPPF of 2012 has been 
superseded, the latest version being the NPPF (2021). 
 
The potential environmental and amenity impacts were also assessed during 
the consideration of the previous applications and mitigation measures, and 
planning conditions to reduce those identified impacts were imposed on the 
resulting permissions where then considered to be required. However, in the 
context of the current development plan and national guidance, it is necessary 
to consider whether the development, if released from the constraint of 
Condition 31, would be likely to give rise to any significantly different or 
additional impacts to those previously considered.  
 
For this proposal, I consider that the main issues that need to be considered 
further are flood risk and protection of the integrity of the culvert, visual, odour 
and dust impacts. 
 
Flood Risk and Protection of the Culvert 
Paragraph 167 of the NPPF states: 
 
 “when determining any planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, 
applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. 
Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the 
light of this assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as 
applicable) it can be demonstrated that: 
 
a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of 

lowest flood risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different 
location; 

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient such that, in 
the event of a flood, it could be quickly brought back into use without 
significant refurbishment; 

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear 
evidence that this would be inappropriate; 

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and 
e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part 

of an agreed emergency plan.” 
 
Appendix B of the NPPW states, when determining planning applications, 
considerations should include the proximity of vulnerable surface and 
groundwater. In addition to this, further consideration must be given to the 

Page 38



RP13 2022.docx    15 
11 April 2022 

“suitability of the locations subject to flooding, with consequent issues relating 
to the management of potential risk posed to water quality from waste 
contamination, will also need particular care”. 
 
Policy W6 of the DDWLP states:  
 
“Waste development will be permitted only if the development would not result 
in material harm caused by contamination, pollution or other adverse 
environmental or health effects to: 

 
• people or communities; 
• the site of the development; 
• nearby land uses; or 
• the wider environment.” 

 
The culvert is located to the east of two flood prevention lagoons that are 
designed to act as a form of attenuation during periods of extreme rainfall 
events. The two lagoons are connected by means of a culvert, which currently 
allows the Nutbrook to pass through. The Nutbrook Culvert runs beneath the 
application site where IBAA is currently stocked. The EA originally expressed 
concern about the ability of the Culvert to support the additional load when the 
original application was considered. The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
submitted with that application stated that at that time there was ongoing 
investigation into the structural performance of the Culvert which may take 
time to complete. Therefore, in order to protect the Culvert’s integrity, it was 
proposed to prevent stockpiling along the culvert corridor which was secured 
through the imposition of Condition 31 requiring an 8m stand-off to be 
maintained. The applicant has now provided an assessment of the structural 
integrity of the Culvert with this current section 73 application. The 
assessment concludes that the Culvert could safely accommodate a load of 
5,000 tonnes without damaging it.   
 
Notwithstanding the EA’s previous concerns, it is not objecting to the 
proposed removal of Condition 31, subject to the inclusion of conditions to 
require any materials stored over the Culvert to be removed, upon the EA’s 
request to carry out its statutory functions. The EA also requests ongoing 
monitoring and inspections of the Culvert and to remediate any structural 
issues within the confines of the development area. The EA is satisfied that 
the mitigation measures imposed through the flood risk activity permitting 
process and the recommended conditions would comply with the NPPF and 
the proposal would not increase flood risk.  
 
I am also satisfied that the FRA, provided under application code 
no.CW8/0413/17, sufficiently assessed the flood risk from the development on 
the site and that the proposed storage of material along the culvert would not 

Page 39



RP13 2022.docx    16 
11 April 2022 

lead to an increase in flood risk across the site. The EA and the LLFA have 
not objected or requested any further information in respect of flood risk.  
 
Subject to the inclusion of the conditions suggested by the EA, I am satisfied 
that the proposal would accord with policy W6 of the DDWLP and the NPPF.  
 
Visual Impact  
Policy W7 of the DDWLP is concerned with landscape and visual impact. 
 
Policy W7 of the DDWLP states: 
 
“Waste development will be permitted only if: the appearance of the 
development would not materially harm the local landscape or townscape and 
would respect the character and local distinctiveness of the area; and the 
development would be located and designed to be no larger than necessary 
and to minimise its visual impact on or to improve the appearance of the 
townscape or landscape.” 
 
The relevant sections of Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states, “Planning policies 
and decisions should ensure that developments: 
 
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 

short term but over the lifetime of the development; 
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 

built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased 
densities) …” 

 
Views into the site are restricted due to the topography of the land, existing 
buildings, and the existing vegetation. The main visual element would be the 
stockpiles of aggregate proposed to be stored along the culvert corridor. The 
site already contains stockpiled materials that have a maximum height of 5m, 
which is controlled through a planning condition. The additional stockpiles 
would be viewed in context of these stockpiles and the wider site, which is 
already established. The proposed stockpiles along the culvert corridor, I 
would also recommend be restricted to a maximum height of 5m as measured 
from ground levels. It is considered that there would be no additional 
significant visual impacts from the proposal on the surrounding area.  
 
In respect of visual impacts, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and 
accords with the policies identified above. 
 
Dust and Odour Impacts 
Appendix B of the NPPW is concerned with general environmental impacts 
from waste development, which require consideration of air quality and dust 

Page 40



RP13 2022.docx    17 
11 April 2022 

impacts. Policies W5 and W6 of the DDWLP, and Policy A of the ECS are 
similarly concerned with these potential impacts. 
 
The concerns expressed by Trowell Parish Council and a local resident 
regarding dust and odour from the site, its impact on the immediate area and 
their concerns about public health are noted.  
 
The company’s activities at Ilkeston have also been the subject of complaints 
relating to dust, particularly since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Complaints have been lodged with the Council but, to a greater degree, they 
have been directed to the EA, which regulates the site, including emissions, 
through the Environmental Permit. I am aware that the unauthorised extension 
of the operations on the land to the south of the site (as mentioned above) has 
exacerbated the potential for dust emissions. It is anticipated that once this 
area has been cleared and vacated, and operations are only within the 
permitted site, the potential for dust will decrease. The Council and the EA are 
liaising with the applicant company in respect of improved mitigation, although 
it is the case that the EA is taking the regulatory lead in this matter.  
 
The granting of previous planning permissions relating to the authorised site 
took into consideration dust impacts and conditions were imposed in respect of 
dust management. Dust action plans and monitoring schemes have been 
approved under previous permissions, however, it is considered that updated 
plans should be submitted.       
  
This application relates only to the removal of Condition 31 on planning 
permission code no. CW8/0417/1 which restricts the storage of material within 
an exclusion zone on top of the culvert. The application does not propose any 
increase in the overall operational inputs which will remain the same.  
 
I recognise that the site has been and continues to be a subject of concern to 
the local community in respect of dust and odour. However, the proposal in 
this application is limited to deletion of a condition that has prohibited 
stockpiling, for the purpose of culvert protection and there is no increase or 
intensification in any other aspect of the operation being proposed.   
 
I am therefore satisfied that granting a permission within the limited scope of 
this application is unlikely to result in any additional impacts in regard to dust 
or odour emissions. The overall site is also subject to control through the 
Environmental Permit. However, I consider it appropriate to require updated 
Dust and Odour management plans.   
 
The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) and the EA were consulted on this 
application and raised no objections or concerns in respect of dust or odour. 
 

Page 41



RP13 2022.docx    18 
11 April 2022 

Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the submission of an updated 
odour and dust management plan, I am satisfied that the proposed change to 
the development would be unlikely to result in any unacceptable and 
significant impacts in regard to odour and dust emissions. The development is 
therefore considered to be in accordance with the policy W6 of the DDWLP. 
 
Cumulative Impacts 
Paragraph 185 of the NPPF requires, “Planning policies and decisions should 
also ensure that new development is appropriate for its location taking into 
account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, 
living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential 
sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 
development. … mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts 
resulting from noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life”. 
 
Policy W10 of the DDWLP states that “Proposals for waste development will 
be assessed in the light of the cumulative impact which they and other 
developments would impose on local communities, concurrently or 
successively. 
 
Waste development will be permitted only if the development would not result 
in significant and detrimental cumulative impact on the environment of those 
communities.” 
 
There is a cluster of waste facilities in this area and the cumulative impact of 
these developments in combination is recognised. The proposed development 
does not seek to increase any vehicular movements entering or egressing the 
site. Nor does this application seek to increase the throughput of materials 
brought on to site. This application only seeks permission for storage of IBAA 
upon the culvert area.  
 
The site lies within a large industrial estate near to the M1 motorway, main line 
railway and less than 1km north of a number of other industrial and distribution 
uses on the former Stanton Ironworks site which has been in heavy industrial 
use since the 1780s. Given the location of the application site within this 
predominantly industrial area, a degree of noise and dust emissions must be 
anticipated. As addressed earlier within this report, an updated odour and dust 
management plan is recommended to be submitted which has up to date 
mitigation measures. Taking into consideration of the nature of the 
development it would not result in any significant cumulative impacts.  
 
I do not consider that the development would result in any significant and 
detrimental cumulative impact on the environment and local communities. I 
am satisfied that the application would accord with Policy W10 of the DDWLP 
and the NPPF in this respect. 

Page 42



RP13 2022.docx    19 
11 April 2022 

Conclusion 
I am of the opinion that the proposed removal of Condition 31, to enable 
stockpiling above the Culvert, would not damage its integrity or impact on 
flood risk. The concerns raised in the representation and those of Trowell 
Parish Council regarding dust and odour impacts are acknowledged, however, 
I am satisfied that the proposed change would not result in any significant 
impacts in these respects and that dust and odour controls are in place 
through the Environmental Permit and through planning conditions. However, 
updated dust and odour management plans should be required to be 
submitted, through attaching a suitable condition to any permission that is 
granted under this application. I am also satisfied that the proposal would not 
have a significant visual impact upon on the closest receptors and that, 
subject to the recommended conditions, it would accord with the NPPF and 
the policies of the ECS. The unauthorised development on the adjacent land 
is not a factor that can be weighed in the planning balance for deciding on this 
application. The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to 
imposition of a new set of conditions under the grant of the new permission. 
The new set of conditions carry over many of the conditions from the previous 
permission but include those amendments mentioned above and other minor 
amendments and deletions to reflect the current circumstances and the 
development that has taken place.  
 
(3) Financial Considerations The correct fee of £234 has been 
received. 
 
(4) Legal Considerations     I do not consider that there would be any 
disproportionate impacts on anyone's human rights under the European 
Convention on Human Rights as a result of this permission being granted 
subject to the conditions referred to in the Officer’s Recommendation.  
 
Applications under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 are 
applications for planning permission for the development of land without 
complying with conditions subject to which a previous planning permission 
was granted. 
 
By subsection (2), local planning authorities in considering these applications 
must consider only the question of the conditions subject to which planning 
permission should be granted. Whenever they decide that planning 
permission should be granted, subject to conditions differing from those 
subject to which the previous permission was granted, or be granted 
unconditionally, they are required to grant planning permission accordingly.  
Conversely whenever they decide that planning permission should be granted 
subject to the same conditions as those subject to which the previous 
permission was granted, they are required to refuse the application.  
 

Page 43



RP13 2022.docx    20 
11 April 2022 

The section does not apply where the time limit in the previous permission for 
starting the development has expired without the development having started. 
Where that time limit has not expired, the section cannot be used to obtain 
planning permission subject to a condition that would extend that time limit.    
 
(5) Environmental and Health Considerations As indicated in the 
report.  
 
(6) Other Considerations 
 
In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: prevention of crime and disorder, social value, equality and 
diversity, human resources, property, social value and transport 
considerations. 
 
(7) Background Papers File No. 8.1087.17  
Application Form, Planning Statement dated June 2021, cover letter from ML 
Construction Structural Engineering reference number 21/S122 dated 23 April 
2021, Drawing Reference number MS256-7 entitled Site Management 
Protocol including vehicle routes dated 22 February 2013.  
 
CCTV Drainage Survey dated 29 October 2021, CCTV Drainage Survey 
Report dated 25 October 2021. Further supporting information – email dated 
14 January 2022 received 17 January 2022. 
 
Consultation Responses from: 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust dated 24 September 2021. 
Erewash Borough Council – Environmental Health Officer dated 5 August 
2021. 
The Highway Authority dated 26 October 2021.  
The Canal and River Trust dated 16 August 2021. 
Nottinghamshire County Council - Planning Policy dated 5 August 2021. 
Trowell Parish Council dated 10 August 2021. 
East Midlands Airport dated 18 August 2021.  
The Environment Agency dated 1 September 2021, 7 February 2022, 17 
August 2022 and 7 March 2022. 
The Lead Local Flood Authority dated 31 August 2021 and 1 February 2022.  
 
Representation received 13 August 2021. 
 
(8) OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION That the Committee resolves to 
grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions, or substantially 
similar to the effect of: 
 
 
 

Page 44



RP13 2022.docx    21 
11 April 2022 

Form of Development 
1) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details set 

out in the application for planning permission code no. CW8/0413/17 
dated 26 April 2013 and approved 22 May 2013, as amended by 
application for planning permission code no. CW8/0417/1 dated 3 April 
2017 and approved on 20 July 2017, and application code no. 
CW8/0721/18, except as otherwise modified or amended by conditions 
of this planning permission. For the avoidance of doubt the approved 
plans and documents are: 

 
CW8/0721/18 
• Planning Statement dated June 2021 
• Cover letter from ML Construction Structural Engineering reference 

number 21/S122 dated 23 April 2021 
• Drawing Reference number MS256-7 entitled ‘Site Management 

Protocol including vehicle routes’ dated 22 February 2013 
• CCTV Drainage Survey dated 29 October 2021 
• CCTV Drainage Survey Report dated 25 October 2021 
• Further supporting information – email dated 14 January 2022 

 
CW8/0417/1 
• Covering Letter from Bond Planning Consultancy dated 3 April 2017 
• Supporting statement Version 1.0 dated April 2017 from Bond 

Planning Consultancy 
 
CW8/0413/17 
• Plan No: NTT/2200/001 
• Plan No: NTT/2200/001(SP) 
• Plan No: NTT/2200/002 
• Plan No: MS256 dated October 2012 
• Plan No: MS256-1 dated October 2013 
• Plan No: MS256-4 dated February 2013 
• Plan No: MS256-2 dated October 2013 
• Plan No: MS256-6 dated February 2013 
• Plan No: MS256-7 dated February 2013 
• Plan No: MS256-8 dated February 2013 
• Plan No: MS256-10 dated April 2013 
• Plan No: BRD 1254-PL03P dated April 2013 
• Plan No: BRD 1254-PEO1P dated April 2013 
• Plan No: BRD 1254-PE02P dated April 2013 
• Flood Risk Assessment with updates (BWB) dated September 2013 
• Transport Assessment (BWB) dated April 2013 
• Noise Assessment (Acute Acoustics Limited) reference dated April 

2013 
• Landscape Impact Assessment (FPCR): dated April 2013 

Page 45



RP13 2022.docx    22 
11 April 2022 

• Design and Access Statement: dated April 2013 
• Supporting Statement dated: dated April 2013 
• Environmental Statement Volumes 1 and 2 dated July 2013 
• Utilities Report (BWB) dated April 2013 
• Ecological Appraisal (FPCR) (Revision A) dated July 2012 
 
Reason: To ensure conformity with the details of the application that is 
approved and to clarify its scope. 

 
Availability of Plans 
2) A copy of this permission, including all documents hereby approved and 

any other documents subsequently approved in accordance with any 
condition of this permission, shall be kept available for inspection at the 
site during the prescribed working hours for the duration of the 
development. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the site operators are fully aware of the 

requirements of these conditions throughout the period of the 
development. 

 
3) The external appearance of all buildings and structures on the site shall 

be maintained. Any maintenance or alteration to the external 
appearance of any of the buildings or structures shall be carried out 
using like for like materials so far as possible. In advance of any 
changes to the external appearance being made a scheme detailing the 
proposed changes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Waste Planning Authority. The changes shall then be carried out and 
maintained in accordance with the details as approved.   

 
Reason: To control the spread and appearance of plant and ancillary 
development in the interests of the appearance of the site.  
 

Tonnage of Waste Imported and Processed  
4) In any 12 month period, the amount of all permitted waste imported and 

processed at the site (Incinerator Bottom Ash waste and associated 
metals only), shall not exceed 350,000 tonnes. The site operator shall 
make accurate records of the tonnages of the wastes arriving at the site 
using the site weighbridge and these records shall be kept available for 
inspection as and when requested by the Waste Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of users of nearby land and the 
nearest residential occupiers, and to ensure that continuation of the 
waste management facility does not give rise to environmental impact.  
 
 
 

Page 46



RP13 2022.docx    23 
11 April 2022 

Hours of Operation 
5) No operations authorised or required by this permission, other than the 

essential servicing and maintenance of plant and other similar work of 
an essential nature, shall be carried out on the site except between the 
following times, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Waste 
Planning Authority: 

 
a. The acceptance of IBA and Processing within the building:  

0600 hours – 2200 hours Monday to Saturday inclusive.  
 
b. All other site works and distribution of reclaimed materials:  

0600 hours – 1800 hours Mondays to Saturday inclusive.  
 

There shall be no working on Sundays, Bank Holidays or other 
National Holidays. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the waste management facility and related 
operations do not have an adverse impact on local amenity and the 
environment. 

 
6) The facility shall only be available to persons by prior arrangement with 

the operator and shall not be available to the general public.  
 
 Reason: To ensure that additional traffic to and from the site is 

minimised.  
 
7) At all times, the recording of all complaints relating to odour, noise and 

other nuisance complaints shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
details received under cover of email from MEB Design Solutions dated 
22 August 2014, as approved by the Waste Planning Authority on 16 
October 2014.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of the residents of the area are 
protected.  

 
8) No additional outdoor lighting shall be installed at the site other than in 

accordance with the application details as shown on Drawing No. 
MS256-8 dated 22 February 2013, except in accordance with a scheme 
which has received the written approval of the Waste Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include details of the type of any additional 
external lighting, the position, lux levels, light spread and activation 
methods.  

 
Reason: To minimise the impacts of the development on the local 
environment and to protect the amenity of the area. 

 

Page 47



RP13 2022.docx    24 
11 April 2022 

Site Access and Highway Protection 
9) The sole vehicular access to be used in conjunction with this 

development shall be as shown on Drawing No. MS256-7 dated, 22 
February 2013. 
 

 Reason: To control access into the site in the interests of local amenity, 
highway safety and the environment.  

 
10) All existing visibility splays and road markings at the access shall be 

retained and maintained for the duration of the proposed works.  
 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
11) The number of Heavy Goods Vehicle movements shall not exceed 140 

per day (70 in/70 out) on Mondays to Fridays and 68 (34 in/34 out) on 
Saturdays. Daily records of Heavy Goods Vehicle movements shall be 
maintained on site and made available for inspection by the Waste 
Planning Authority during the hours specified in Condition 6 above.  

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
 
Highway Safety 
12) All loaded vehicles entering or leaving the site shall be sheeted.  
 
 Reason: In the interest of highway safety. 
 
Highway Cleanliness  
13) No mud, debris or other dirt shall be taken from the site and deposited 

onto the private road outside the site boundary or on any public 
highway.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

Noise suppression Measures 
14) a) All work on the site shall be carried out as appropriate in accordance 

with BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014  ‘Code of practice for noise and vibration 
control on construction and open sites – Noise’ or its equivalent 
replacement. 
 
At all times during the carrying out of the approved operations all 
practicable noise suppression measures shall be applied to the 
operation of all plant (including crushing and screening plant), 
machinery and vehicles. All vehicles, plant and machinery shall operate 
on the site only during the permitted hours, except in an emergency, 
and shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturers’ 
specifications at all times, and shall be fitted with and use effective 

Page 48



RP13 2022.docx    25 
11 April 2022 

silencers or other acoustic mitigation devices/shrouds as appropriate. 
Save for the purposes of maintenance, no machinery shall be operated 
with the covers open or removed.  
 
b) There shall be no alterations in working practices or changes in 
equipment used which would be likely to materially increase the noise 
levels at the boundary of the site without the prior written approval of the 
Waste Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development does not have an adverse effect 
on neighbouring commercial interests and local amenity. 
 

15) Reversing warning devices on all plant and vehicles operated on the 
site shall be either non-audible, ambient-related or low-tone devices. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development does not have an adverse effect on 
neighbouring amenity. 

 
16) No materials shall be processed on the site other than via the plant 

specified in the application documents set out in condition 1.  
 

Reason: To clarify the details approved and to ensure the development 
does not have an adverse effect on neighbouring commercial interests 
and local amenity. 
 

17) The free field noise levels from the site operations, as measured at the 
site boundary expressed as a 1 hours LAeq, shall not exceed 60dB(A) 
or L90 plus 5dB(A), whichever is the higher. 

 
Reason: In the interests of protection of amenity. 

  
18) At all times, the noise monitoring and noise management measures set 

out in the Noise Mitigation Strategy produced by Acute Acoustics 
Limited (ref 1524) received under cover of email from MEB Design 
Solutions dated 22 August 2014, as approved by the Waste Planning 
Authority, on 16 October 2014, shall be fully implemented and 
maintained thereafter for the duration of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interest of protection of the local amenity. 

 
19) Within one month of receiving a written request from the Waste Planning 

Authority, the operator shall undertake and submit to the Waste Planning 
Authority for its written approval, a BS4142: 2014+A1:2019 noise survey, 
to assess whether noise arising from the development exceeds the 
daytime criterion of 5db(A) above the existing background noise level, 
after the addition of the 5db(A) penalty to reflect tonal, discrete or impact 

Page 49



RP13 2022.docx    26 
11 April 2022 

noise as advised in BS4142:2014+A1:2019 at the nearest residential 
receptor. The submitted survey shall include further measures to mitigate 
noise impact so as to ensure compliance with the noise criteria. The noise 
impact so as to ensure compliance with the noise criteria. The noise 
mitigation measures shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details, and the mitigation measures maintained through 
the operational life of the site.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the users of nearby land and the 
nearest residential occupiers. 

 
Control of Dust, Smoke, Fumes and Waste 
20) Within two months of the date of this permission a Dust Management 

Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste 
Planning Authority. The Dust Management Plan shall include all 
measures and provisions to suppress and control dust to prevent 
fugitive dust from leaving the site.   

 
If despite the steps taken in the Dust Management Plan the operator 
becomes aware of dust leaving the site, or if it is considered necessary 
and upon request of the WPA all relevant operations shall be 
temporarily suspended immediately and shall not resume until 
appropriate measures are in place to ensure that site operations can 
resume without dust leaving the site.  
  
The operator shall give prior notification to the WPA of any proposed 
revisions to the dust management measures and submit a revised 
version of the DMP to the WPA for its written approval. 

 
The measures and provisions set out in the Dust Management Plan 
shall be implemented as approved.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the waste management facility and related 
operations do not have an adverse impact on local amenity. 

 
21) There shall be no fires on the site.  
 

Reason: To ensure that the waste management facility and related 
operations do not have an adverse impact on local amenity.  

 
22) The site shall be kept clean and tidy with measures in place to prevent 

litter or debris from the operations being deposited on land outside the 
site. Any windblown wastes or litter arising from the operations on the 
site shall be collected daily and stored in an appropriate container until it 
is removed from the site to an appropriate licenced facility.   

Page 50



RP13 2022.docx    27 
11 April 2022 

Reason: To ensure that the waste management facility and related 
operations do not have an adverse impact on local amenity. 

 
23) The maximum storage height of any unprocessed or processed material 

(IBA/IBAA/metals or other) shall be 5 metres, as measured from ground 
levels immediately adjacent to the stockpile and within the permission 
boundary.   

 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the visual amenity.  
 

24) Notwithstanding the requirement of the other conditions of this 
permission relating to dust management, those areas on the application 
site and outside the building, where vehicular activity takes place, shall 
be surfaced with a solid bound material and appropriate dust 
suppression implemented.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the waste management facility and related 
operations do not have an adverse impact on local amenity.  

 
25) All rubbish, debris, scrap and other waste material generated on the site 

shall be regularly collected and stored in a tidy manner in a contained 
and inconspicuous location within the site until disposed of in a suitable 
facility.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the site working areas are kept clear.  

 
Site Drainage and Contamination 
26) Within two months of the date of this permission details of the surface 

water drainage system in place on the site shall be submitted to the 
WPA for approval in writing.  The submission shall include: 

 
• a plan(s) detailing all surface water features in place on the site 
• details of surface water drainage processes/mechanisms/rainwater 

collection systems in place on the site 
• details of maintenance provisions and contingency arrangements. 

 
The surface water drainage scheme as approved shall be maintained 
throughout the operational life of the waste operations.   

 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and 
protect water quality, to improve habitat and amenity, and to ensure the 
future maintenance of the sustainable drainage structures.  

 
27) There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated drainage from the 

site into the ground, ground water or any surface waters, whether direct 
or via soakaways. All necessary measures shall be taken to prevent 

Page 51



RP13 2022.docx    28 
11 April 2022 

effluents, oil, fuel or lubricant being discharged to any watercourse, 
ground water system or underground strata. 
 
Reason: To prevent contamination of watercourses.  
 

28) Any oil, fuel, lubricant and other potential pollutants shall be handled on 
the site in such a manner as to prevent pollution of any watercourse or 
aquifer. For any liquid other than water, this shall include storage in 
suitable tanks. All facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals 
shall be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund 
walls. The volume of each bunded compound shall be at least 
equivalent to the capacity of the tank and associated pipework plus 
10%. If there is multiple tankage within a bund, the compound shall be 
at least equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the 
combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels and associated 
pipework plus 10%. All filling and emptying points, associated valves, 
vents, tank overflow outlets, pipework, gauges and sight glasses shall 
be located within the bund or have separate secondary containment. 
Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from 
accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe 
outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund. There 
shall be no drain through any bund floor or walls. The drainage system 
of each bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land 
or underground strata.  
 
Reason: To prevent contamination of watercourses.  
 

29) With the exception of the requirement to exclude the Nutbrook culvert 
corridor from the influence of any stockpiling the development permitted 
by this planning permission shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) NTT/2200/FRA Rev C and the 
mitigation measures detailed within the Flood Risk Assessment.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site drains efficiently. 
 

30) Any materials being stored over the Nutbrook culvert shall be removed, 
upon the request of the Environment Agency in order to carry out their 
statutory functions.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development is safe for its lifetime without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. 
 

31) The Nutbrook Culvert in the confines of the development site shall be 
routinely monitored and inspected to identify any structural defects in it. 
Any such defects, that are identified shall be remediated and be 

Page 52



RP13 2022.docx    29 
11 April 2022 

reported immediately to the Waste Planning Authority and the 
Environment Agency.  
 
Reason: To ensure the Nutbrook Culvert in the confines of the 
development site t is safe for the lifetime of the development from 
increasing flood risk elsewhere 

 
32) Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water drain, 

sewer or soakaway system, all surface water drainage from parking 
areas and hardstanding, shall be passed through an oil interceptor, 
which shall be designed and constructed to have a capacity (and 
details) compatible with the site being drained. 
 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and ensure the 
site is adequately drained.  

 
Odour 
33) Notwithstanding the information required by the other conditions of this 

permission, each working day, the surrounds of the site shall be 
monitored for any odours arising from the development. If any materials 
result in noticeable odours they shall be contained or removed from the 
site as soon as practicable.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the waste management facility and related 
operations do not have an adverse impact on local amenity.  
 

34) Any non-inert odorous wastes brought onto the site shall be stored 
separately from the inert wastes in a lidded skip or container and 
removed from the site as soon as reasonably practicable.  

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the waste 
management facility and related operations do not have an adverse 
impact on local amenity.  
 

35) Within two months of the date of this permission an Odour Management 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste 
Planning Authority.  The Odour Management Plan shall include all 
measures and provisions to control odour on site.  

 
The operator shall give prior notification to the WPA of any proposed 
revisions to the odour management measures and submit a revised 
version of the OMP to the WPA for its written approval.   
 
The measures and provisions set out in the Odour Management Plan 
shall be implemented as approved.   
 

Page 53



RP13 2022.docx    30 
11 April 2022 

Reason: To ensure that odour emissions do not adversely impact on 
local amenity. 

 
Contaminated Land 
36) The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the details set 

out in the Phase 1 Factual Contamination report/risk assessment, the 
Borehole data and all associated plans prepared by Geodyne (ref 
D33158/PK dated 26 November 2013) and the additional information 
received from Geodyne dated 2 November 2016, as approved by the 
Waste Planning Authority on 15 December 2016.  
 
Reason: National Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 109 states 
that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from 
or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution.  
 

Conservation and Landscaping 
37) All existing hedges and fences on the site boundary shall be maintained 

and protected from damage throughout the period of operations.  
 
Reason: For the protection of visual amenity. 
 

Landscaping/Ecology 
38) Within two months of the date of this permission a detailed landscaping 

scheme shall be submitted to the WPA for approval in writing.  The 
scheme shall include the following:   

 
• Details of all planting carried out on the site including location/ 

species/date of planting, maintenance undertaken.  
• Details of planting to be carried out on the internal bank of the 

existing bund that runs along the northwest boundary and the 
banks/bunds/non-operational areas either side of the site access. The 
details should include proposed plant species, size of plants, ground 
preparation, means of protection and density of planting. 

• Details of the maintenance and management of existing and 
proposed planting which should be carried out annually for five years 
following planting being undertaken. The details should include 
provision for protection from pest damage, weed control, watering, 
cutting, trimming and replacement planting.   

 
The landscaping scheme shall also provide opportunities for habitat 
creation and ongoing management, in compensation for those 
mitigation and enhancement measures proposed in the Environmental 
Statement dated July 2013 and the Habitat Mitigation scheme dated 
August 2014 that have not been undertaken.   

Page 54



RP13 2022.docx    31 
11 April 2022 

The scheme shall be implemented as approved and all proposed 
planting will be carried out in the first planting season following approval 
of the scheme.  
 
Reason: To enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the 
surrounding natural and built environment. 
 

39) No operations required by this permission, including the stripping or 
storage of soils, shall take place within 6 metres of the centre line of any 
hedge and not within 10 metres of the trunk of any tree which is to be 
retained on the site. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all existing vegetation is preserved. 
 

40) No trees, hedgerows or shrubs shall be removed during the bird nesting 
season unless the trees, hedgerows or shrubs that are to be removed 
have been surveyed to confirm the absence of active bird nesting and a 
report setting out the method employed and the results of the survey 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the protection of nesting birds. 

 
Statement of Compliance with Article 35 of the Town and Country 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
The Authority worked with the applicant in a positive and pro-active manner 
based on seeking solutions to problems arising in the processing of planning 
applications in full accordance with this Article. 
 
Footnotes 

 
1) The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 

require a permit or exemption to be obtained for any activities which will 
take place: 
 
• on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal); 
• on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culverted main 

river (16 metres if tidal); 
• on or within 16 metres of a sea defence; 
• involving quarrying or excavation within 16 metres of any main river, 

flood defence (including a remote defence) or culvert; 
• in a floodplain more than 8 metres from the river bank, culvert or flood 

defence structure (16 metres if it’s a tidal main river) and you do not 
already have planning permission 

 

Page 55



RP13 2022.docx    32 
11 April 2022 

For further guidance please visit https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-
activities-environmental-permits or contact our National Customer 
Contact Centre on 03708 506 506 (Monday to Friday, 8am to 6pm) or 
by emailing enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk. 
 
The applicant should not assume that a permit will automatically be 
forthcoming once planning permission has been granted, and we advise 
them to consult with us at the earliest opportunity. 
 

2) The following issue is not within our direct remit or expertise, but 
nevertheless is an important consideration for managing flood risk for 
this development. Prior to deciding this application, we recommend that 
consideration is given to the issue below. Where necessary, the advice 
of relevant experts should be sought. 
 
Details and calculations relating to the structural stability of the Nutbrook 
culvert 

 
The applicant has provided structural calculations which seek to 
demonstrate that the Nutbrook culvert is able to withstand the loading 
being placed atop it (ref 21/S122-2, dated 17th February 2022 and 
compiled by ML Consulting Structural Engineers). 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 56



© Crown copyright and database rights 2022. Ordnance Survey 100023251.

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

RP10 2021.docx 1 
11 April 2022 

FOR PUBLICATION 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 

11 April 2022 

Report of the Executive Director – Place 

Item for the Committee’s Information 

CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

Site Breach Action Taken Comment 
Lindrick, Mansfield 
Road, Corbriggs 
(formerly MXG) 

Unauthorised storage 
and processing of inert 
waste. 

Enforcement Notice issued 27 June 2013, requiring 
removal of all waste material before 1 August 2014.  A 
Notice of Relaxation of Enforcement Notice was 
issued on 23 March 2015. This extended the period of 
compliance for the processing and removal of waste to 
31 January 2016, and the seeding of the exposed 
perimeter banks to 31 July 2016. 
Planning Contravention Notice issued 1 November 
2016 (response received). 

Site inactive. 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 8



Public 

RP10 2021.docx 2 
11 April 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

Breach of Condition Notice (Mud on Road) issued 19 
December 2016. 
Notice of Relaxation of Enforcement Notice issued on 
10 July 2017 extended the period of compliance to 31 
December 2017. 

Stancliffe Quarry 
3.696R 

Condition 43 relating 
to stability of land 
adjacent to quarry 
face. Non–compliance 
relating to requirement 
to provide appropriate 
remediation scheme. 
 
February 2017 
Breach involving the 
removal of stone via 
unauthorised access, 
creation of access 
track and damage to 
trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Order. 

Breach of Condition Notice served October 2013 
requiring submission of a relevant scheme by end of 
January 2014 (extended date). 
Temporary Stop Notice issued 17 February 2017. 
Interim Injunction Order granted 31 March 2017. 

Site inactive. Two planning 
applications relating to the site 
under consideration 
CM3/0918/48 and CM3/0918/49). 

Land west of Park 
Farm, Woodland 
Road, Stanton 

Without planning 
permission, the 
change of use of the 
land from an 
agricultural use to a 
use comprising 
agriculture and the 
importation and 
storage of waste 
material.  

Enforcement Notice issued 14 December 2018 Date notice takes effect – 21 
January 2019. 
 
Ongoing monitoring of notice 
requirements.  
 
Monitoring stalled due to Covid-
19 Inspection to be arranged.  
 

Land at Park Hills 
Farm, Mugginton 

Without planning 
permission, the 

Temporary Stop Notice issued 29 May 2019. 
Enforcement Notice issued 3 February 2020. 

Ongoing monitoring/review. 
Enforcement notice took effect 4 
March 2020. 

P
age 60



Public 

RP10 2021.docx 3 
11 April 2022 

Lane End, Weston 
Underwood 

deposit of waste 
materials onto land. 

Monitoring stalled due to Covid-
19 Inspection to be arranged. 

Land at Lady Lea 
Road, Horsley 

Importation and 
deposit of material 
onto land. 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 28 October 
2019. 
Temporary Stop Notice issued 29 May 2020. 
Enforcement Notice issued 16 July 2020 – Notice 
takes effect on 19 August 2020 unless an appeal is 
lodged before the effective date.   

Appeal against enforcement 
notice lodged with Planning 
Inspectorate.  Appeal start date - 
8 September 2020. 
Decision pending  

Land at Barden 
Farm/Hirst Farm, 
Smalley 

Importation and 
deposit of waste 
material; treatment 
and processing of 
waste material; 
formation of an 
excavation and 
deposit of waste 
material within the 
excavation. 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 4 August 2020 – 
Response required by 25 August 2020.   
Response received. 

Planning Contravention Notice 
issued in consultation with Amber 
Valley Borough Council.  

Land at Barden 
Farm, Smalley 

Importation of waste 
material, deposit of 
waste material, 
transfer of waste 
material, storage of 
waste material and 
empty skips, and 
treatment of waste 
material 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 30 November 
2021. 

Planning Contravention Notice 
served on Heanor Mini Skips Ltd 

 
 

Chris Henning 
Executive Director – Place 

 
 

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING SERVICES
Outstanding Items
Date: 31/03/2022

EIA applications outstanding more than 16 weeks
MAJOR applications outstanding more than 13 weeks
MINOR applications outstanding more than 8 weeks

APP CODE PROPOSAL LOCATION STATUS WEEKS
EIA (4)

CM3/0817/40 Development of a lateral extension to 
the south west of the existing permitted 
operations to provide the winning and 
working of minerals, associated 
ancillary operations and amended 
restoration scheme through landfill at 
Slinter Top Quarry.

Slinter Top Quarry, Cromford, Matlock, 
DE4 3QS

Consultation replies 
being considered

243

CM3/0906/91 Section 73 application for the 
amendment of condition 17 of planning 
permission WED/1284/836

Middleton Mine, Middleton by Wirksworth Consideration being 
given to the 
appropriate 
mechanism for 
withdrawal or 
disposal of the 
application.  

812

CM6/1110/112 Recovery of 400,000 tonnes of coal 
using surface mining and the 
development of two flood alliviation 
areas along the Bottle Brook at George 
Farm Reclamation Site, Denby.

George Farm, Denby, Derbyshire,DE5 
8PP

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

583

CM9/0816/46 Application under Section 73 to vary 
condition specifically to commencing 
extraction in the Weston Extension prior 
to completing restoration of Phases 8/9 
of Planning Permission CM9/0211/163 
and allowing increased stocking of 
waste materials in the landfill transfer 
station

Shardlow Quarry, Acre Lane, Shardlow, 
DE72 2SP

Consultation 
Replies Awaited

217

Major (8)

CM5/0818/42 Reclamation,  cut of and fill site, of the 
former Whitwell  Colliery site  to 
facilitate  mixed use redevelopment of 
the site together with landscaping, 
ecology and drainage.

Former Whitwell Colliery, Station Road, 
Whitwell,S80 4TS

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

177

CM3/0918/48 Amendment to condition 7, 10 & 11 of 
determined conditions approval 
R3/0699/17 (LET 7276). Relating to 
quarry permit 1390/9/2 (7 March 1952)

Stancliffe Quarry, Dale Road North, 
Matlock

Held in Abeyance 172

CM3/0918/49 Formation of new access and road to 
existing quarry

Stancliffe Quarry, Dale Road North, 
Darley Dale,DE4 2GY

Held in Abeyance 172

CW8/0818/45 Section 73 application seeking 
permission to amend condition 24 of 
planning permission CW8/0811/61 to 
extend the hours of working on the 
established Ward Waste Recycling 
Facility on land at the Quarry Hill 
Industrial Estate, Hallam Fields Road, 
Ilkeston, Derbyshire

Donald Ward Limited, Quarry Hill 
Industrial Estate, Ilkeston,DE7 4AZ

Approved Pending 
Issue of Decision

186

CW9/0321/54 Partially Retrospective Development of 
a Woodshed, Concrete Walled Bays 
and HGV Parking at Depot 3

Willshee's Waste And Recycling Limited, 
Keith Willshee Way, Swadlincote, DE11 
9EN

Further Information 
Awaited

43

CW2/0521/3 Extended area for scrap metal recovery 
and ancillary operations to encompass 
wider site area, including increase 
incoming waste tonnage to 75,000 
tonnes per annum, additional storage 
areas, and increase the storage 
stockpile heights to 4 metres (m) in 
bays.

Pinball Metals Ltd., Unit 2, Burley Close, 
Chesterfield, S40 2UB

Further Information 
Awaited

42

PUBLIC

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



APP CODE PROPOSAL LOCATION STATUS WEEKS
CM3/0721/15 Application not to comply with Condition 

8 of Planning Permission CM3/0718/32 
to update the area where permitted 
development rights apply, to better 
reflect the extent of processing 
opperations.

Brassington Moor Quarry, Longcliffe, 
Brassington, DE4 4BZ

Report being 
prepared

37

CW8/0721/18 Section 73 application not to comply 
with condition 31 of planning permission 
CW8/0417/1 to allow the  storage  of  
material above the Nutbrook Culvert 
within the permitted site boundary.

Johnsons Recycling Centre, Crompton 
Road, Ilkeston, DE7 4BG

Report Written 35

Page 64



 

RP11 2022.docx 1 
11 April 2021 

FOR PUBLICATION 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 

11 April 2022 

Report of the Executive Director – Place 

Item for the Committee’s Information 

CURRENT APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

The following appeal has been lodged with the Planning Inspectorate. 

Appeal Reference APP/U1050/C/20/3257919 
Land at Lady Lea Road, Horsley, Ilkeston 
Appeal against Enforcement Notice Issues on 16 July 2020 
Appeal Start Date – 8 September 2020 
Decision pending 

Chris Henning 
Executive Director – Place 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

RP12 2022.docx 1 
11 April 2022 

FOR PUBLICATION 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 

11 April 2022 

Report of the Executive Director – Place 

Item for the Committee’s Information  

MATTERS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
– PLACE UNDER DELEGATED POWERS

08/02/2022 Applicant: Derbyshire County Council 
Planning Application Code No: CD6/1021/21 
Application under Section 73 to not comply with Condition 1 
(Approved Plans and Documents) of Planning Permission 
Code Number CD6/0820/32 to all Various Alternative Design 
Changes to School Building and Landscaping Detail, Land at 
Alfreton Park, Alfreton Park, Alfreton, Derbyshire DE55 7AP 

08/02/2022 Applicant: Tarmac Limited 
Request to Postpone the Submission of an Application Under 
the Environment Act 1995 (Schedule 5) for Approval of 
Conditions to which a Planning Permission is to be Subject 
(First Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions or 
‘ROMP’ Application) at Hillhead Quarry, Buxton (Planning 
Permission Code Numbers 1986/9/6 (Disposal of Mineral 
Waste/Mineral Winning and Working); 1986/9/8 (Disposal of 
Mineral Waste/Mineral Winning and Working); CHA/262/11 
(Disposal of Mineral Waste); CHA/864/13 (Disposal of 
Mineral Waste); CHA/865/17 (Disposal of Mineral Waste) 

08/02/2022 Applicant: Tarmac 
Planning Application Code No: NMA/0122/80 
Proposed Non-Material Amendment to Planning Permission 
CM5/0416/4 to Amend the Blasting Hours for the Southern 
and South-eastern Extension Areas only and to Amend the 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



Public 

RP12 2022.docx    2 
11 April 2022 

Timescales for the Scheme of Recreational Amenity for the 
Site upon Restoration at Whitwell Quarry, Southfield Lane, 
Whitwell 

08/02/2022 Delegation Decisions on Schemes Required by Planning 
Conditions: 
CD3/1219/65 Highfields School, Upper Lumsdale, Matlock 
SD3574 – Requires the Submission of a Community Use 
Scheme 
CD8/0221/48 Brackenfield School, Bracken Road, Long 
Eaton 
SD3620 – Requires the submission of details for the external 
finish including the brickwork specification/ colour, the colour 
finish of the roofing material, window frames, any window 
panelling, door frames, doors and associated rainwater 
goods 

24/02/2022 Applicant: Derbyshire County Council 
Planning Application Code No: CD6/1121/23 
Installation of a Refurbished Modular Building at Swanwick 
School and Sports College, Hayes Lane, Swanwick, Alfreton, 
DE55 1AR 

24/02/2022 Delegation Decisions on Schemes Required by Planning 
Conditions: 
CM1/0618/23 Mouselow Quarry, Dinting Road, Glossop 
SM3619 – Requires a check for nesting birds to be 
undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist prior to clearance 
of grassland, hedgerow, scrub and woodland during nesting 
season. 

04/03/2022 Applicant: Tarmac LTD 
Submission No: PD17/1/87 
Request for Prior Approval for Additional Lime Storage 
Facility at Hindlow Quarry, Sterndale Moor, Buxton, 
Derbyshire 

11/03/2022 Applicant: Cemex UK Operations Ltd 
Planning Application Code No: NMA/0222/81 
Proposed Non-Material Amendment to Planning Permission 
CM9/0620/19 to Provide Temporary Additional Stockpile Area 
for Sand and Gravel (12 Months) at Willington Quarry, The 
Castle Way, Willington, Derbyshire 

 
 
 
 

Chris Henning 
Executive Director - Place 

Page 68


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 To consider the reports of the Director of Legal & Democratic Services on Commons Act 2006 determination of an application to register land known as Twyford Road Playing Fields, Willington as a town or village green (VG118)
	7 Application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for Permission Not to Comply with Condition 31 of Planning Permission Code Number CW8/0417/1, so as to allow the Storage of Material above the Nutbrook Culvert within the Permitted Site, Johnsons Recycling Centre, Crompton Road, Ilkeston, DE7 4BG Applicant: Johnsons Aggregates & Recycling Limited, Code No: CW8/0721/18
	8 Current Enforcement Action
	9 Outstanding Application List
	10 Current Appeals/Called in Applications
	11 Matters Determined by the Executive Director - Economy, Transport and Environment under Delegated Powers

